EX-2.6 2 flo-ex26_28.htm EX-2.6

Exhibit 2.6

EXECUTION VERSION

stock purchase AGREEMENT

by and among

AVB, Inc.,

Goode Seed Holdings, LLC,

Goode Seed Co-Invest, LLC,

GLENN DAHL, TRUSTEE OF THE GLENN DAHL FAMILY TRUST,
U/A/D NOVEMBER 28, 2012,

DAVID J. DAHL, TRUSTEE OF THE DAVID DAHL FAMILY TRUST,
U/A/D MAY 1, 2012,

SHOBI L. DAHL, TRUSTEE OF THE SHOBI L. DAHL FAMILY TRUST,
U/A/D DECEMBER 16, 2011,

FLOWERS BAKERIES, LLC,

Flowers Foods, Inc.,

and

Goode Seed Holdings, LLC, as Shareholders’ Representative

Dated as of AUGUST 12, 2015

Table of Contents

|  | Page
Article I. | Definitions | 1
Section 1.1 | Certain Definitions | 1
Section 1.2 | Certain Additional Definitions | 10
Article II. | THE PURCHASE AND SALE | 11
Section 2.1 | Purchase and Sale | 11
Section 2.2 | Closing | 12
Section 2.3 | Certain Closing Date Payments | 13
Section 2.4 | Purchase Price Adjustment | 13
Section 2.5 | Transfer Taxes | 17
Section 2.6 | Withholding | 17
Article III. | REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY | 17
Section 3.1 | Authority | 18
Section 3.2 | Organization; Subsidiaries | 18
Section 3.3 | Capitalization | 19
Section 3.4 | Conflicts | 19
Section 3.5 | Consents, Approvals, Etc | 19
Section 3.6 | Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities | 20
Section 3.7 | Certain Changes or Events | 20
Section 3.8 | Tax Matters | 22
Section 3.9 | Litigation and Governmental Orders | 23
Section 3.10 | Compliance with Laws | 23
Section 3.11 | Permits | 24
Section 3.12 | Real Property | 24
Section 3.13 | Tangible Personal Property | 25
Section 3.14 | Intellectual Property | 25
Section 3.15 | Certain Contracts | 27
Section 3.16 | Employee Benefit Matters | 28
Section 3.17 | Labor Matters | 30
Section 3.18 | Environmental Matters | 30

i

Table of Contents

(continued)

|  | Page
Section 3.19 | Related Party Transactions | 31
Section 3.20 | Brokers | 32
Section 3.21 | Suppliers, Customers and Distributors | 32
Section 3.22 | Product Standards | 32
Section 3.23 | No Other Representations or Warranties | 32
Article IV. | REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS | 33
Section 4.1 | Authority | 33
Section 4.2 | Organization | 33
Section 4.3 | Conflicts | 33
Section 4.4 | Consents, Approvals, Etc | 34
Section 4.5 | Ownership | 34
Section 4.6 | No Other Representations or Warranties | 34
Article V. | REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER AND GUARANTOR | 35
Section 5.1 | Authority | 35
Section 5.2 | Organization | 35
Section 5.3 | Conflicts | 35
Section 5.4 | Consents, Approvals, Etc | 36
Section 5.5 | Litigation and Governmental Orders | 36
Section 5.6 | Adequate Funds | 36
Section 5.7 | Due Diligence Investigation | 36
Section 5.8 | Brokers | 37
Section 5.9 | Investment Intent | 37
Section 5.10 | No Other Representations or Warranties | 37
Article VI. | COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY AND THE SELLERS | 37
Section 6.1 | No Solicitation | 37
Section 6.2 | Conduct of the Company Prior to the Closing | 38
Section 6.3 | Access to Information | 41
Section 6.4 | Stock Options | 41
Section 6.5 | Termination of Certain Agreements | 41
Section 6.6 | Parachute Payments | 42
Section 6.7 | Update to Schedule | 42
Section 6.8 | Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance | 42

ii

Table of Contents

(continued)

|  | Page
Article VII. | COVENANTS OF BUYER AND GUARANTOR | 42
Section 7.1 | Indemnification | 42
Section 7.2 | Confidentiality | 43
Section 7.3 | R&W Insurance | 43
Article VIII. | COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY, THE SELLERS AND BUYER | 43
Section 8.1 | Efforts; Consents; Regulatory and Other Authorizations | 43
Section 8.2 | Further Action | 45
Article IX. | CONDITIONS TO CLOSING | 45
Section 9.1 | Conditions to Obligations of All Parties | 45
Section 9.2 | Conditions to Obligations of the Sellers | 45
Section 9.3 | Conditions to Obligations of Buyer | 46
Article X. | TERMINATION | 47
Section 10.1 | Termination | 47
Section 10.2 | Buyer Termination Fee | 48
Section 10.3 | Effect of Termination | 48
Article XI. | TAX MATTERS | 48
Section 11.1 | Tax Returns | 48
Section 11.2 | Straddle Period Allocation | 49
Section 11.3 | Amended Tax Returns | 49
Section 11.4 | Tax Refunds | 49
Section 11.5 | Audits | 50
Section 11.6 | Cooperation; Tax Records | 50
Article XII. | INDEMNIFICATION | 50
Section 12.1 | Indemnification by the Sellers | 50
Section 12.2 | Indemnification by Buyer | 51
Section 12.3 | Notice and Opportunity to Defend | 51
Section 12.4 | Survivability; Limitations | 53
Section 12.5 | Exclusive Remedy | 54
Section 12.6 | Treatment of Indemnification Payments | 54

iii

Table of Contents

(continued)

|  | Page
Article XIII. | GENERAL PROVISIONS | 55
Section 13.1 | Shareholders’ Representative | 55
Section 13.2 | Expenses | 56
Section 13.3 | Costs and Attorneys’ Fees | 57
Section 13.4 | Notices | 57
Section 13.5 | Public Announcements | 58
Section 13.6 | Provision Respecting Legal Representation | 59
Section 13.7 | Interpretation | 59
Section 13.8 | Severability | 59
Section 13.9 | Entire Agreement | 60
Section 13.10 | Assignment | 60
Section 13.11 | No Third-Party Beneficiaries | 60
Section 13.12 | Waivers and Amendments | 60
Section 13.13 | Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction | 61
Section 13.14 | Waiver of Jury Trial | 61
Section 13.15 | Exclusivity of Representations and Warranties | 61
Section 13.16 | Equitable Remedies | 62
Section 13.17 | Counterparts | 62
Section 13.18 | Time is of the Essence | 62
Section 13.19 | Guaranty | 62

iv

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A | – | Form of Escrow Agreement
Exhibit B | – | Form of Optionholder Pay-Off Agreement
Exhibit C | – | Seller Notice Information

SCHEDULES

Schedule 1.1(a) | – | Closing Debt
Schedule 1.1(b) | – | Sample Calculation of Closing Net Working Capital Amount
Schedule 1.1(c) | – | Company Transaction Expenses Tax Benefit
Schedule 1.1(d) | – | Identified Capital Expenditures
Schedule 2.1 | – | Shares
Schedule 2.4(a) | – | Specified Accounting Principles
Schedule 6.2(a) | – | Conduct of the Company
Schedule 6.2(b) | – | Limitations on Conduct of the Company
Schedule 9.3 | – | Certain Closing Conditions

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of August 12, 2015 (the “Effective Date”) by and among AVB, Inc., an Oregon corporation (the “Company”), Goode Seed Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“GSH”), Goode Seed Co-Invest, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“GSC”), Glenn Dahl, Trustee of the Glenn Dahl Family Trust, U/A/D November 28, 2012 (“GDT”), David J. Dahl, Trustee of the David Dahl Family Trust, U/A/D May 1, 2012 (“DDT”), Shobi L. Dahl, Trustee of the Shobi L. Dahl Family Trust, U/A/D December 16, 2011 (“SDT”, and together with GDT, DDT, GSH and GSC, the “Sellers”), Flowers Bakeries, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company (“Buyer”), Flowers Foods, Inc., a Georgia corporation (“Guarantor”), and GSH, as the Shareholders’ Representative.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Sellers collectively own all of the issued and outstanding capital stock (the “Shares”) of the Company;

WHEREAS, Buyer desires to purchase from each Seller, and each Seller desires to sell to Buyer, 100% of the Shares owned by such Seller, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein;

WHEREAS, the Company and the Sellers have approved this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby in accordance with the Company Organizational Documents.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the mutual covenants, promises and agreements hereinafter set forth, the mutual benefits to be gained by the performance thereof, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged and accepted, the parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I.
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

“Acquisition Proposal” means, other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, any offer, proposal relating to (a) the sale, license, disposition or acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, taken as a whole, (b) the issuance, disposition or acquisition of (i) shares of capital stock or other equity securities of the Company (other than the exercise of stock options in existence as of the Effective Date), (ii) any subscription, option, call, warrant, preemptive right, right of first refusal or any other right (whether or not exercisable) to

acquire shares of capital stock or other equity securities of the Company, or (iii) securities, instruments or obligations that are or may become convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or other equity securities of the Company, or (c) any merger, consolidation, business combination, reorganization or similar transaction involving the Company.

“Act” means the Oregon Business Corporation Act.

“Action” means any claim, action, suit or proceeding, arbitral action, criminal prosecution or other governmental investigation.

“Affiliate” means, when used with respect to a specified Person, another Person that either directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the specified Person.

“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks located in Portland, Oregon or New York, New York are authorized or required by Law to be closed for business.

“Cash” means cash and Cash Equivalents determined in accordance with GAAP on a consolidated basis, using the Specified Accounting Principles.

“Cash Equivalents” means investment securities with original maturities of ninety (90) days or less and credit card receivables incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

“CERCLA” means the United States Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.).

“Closing Cash” means the aggregate amount of all Cash of the Company as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date.

“Closing Date Payment Schedule” means a schedule, prepared by the Company, setting forth as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date, (a) the calculation of the Closing Date Purchase Price pursuant to Section 2.1; (b) to the extent applicable for each Seller: (i) such Seller’s name and wire transfer instructions and (ii) the number and type of Shares held by such Seller; and (c) the portion of the Closing Date Payment to be paid to each Seller.

“Closing Debt” means the aggregate principal amount of, and accrued interest on, the Debt of the Company as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date set forth on Schedule 1.1(a).

“Closing Net Working Capital Amount” means, except as provided in Section 2.3(f), (a) the aggregate dollar amount of all assets properly characterized as current assets of the Company and that are of a type listed on Schedule 1.1(b) attached hereto (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Cash, all income Tax accounts, all interest accounts, and prepaid Company Transaction Expenses), minus (b) the aggregate dollar amount of all liabilities properly characterized as current liabilities of the Company and that are of a type listed on

2

Schedule 1.1(b) attached hereto (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, income Tax accounts, all interest accounts, Closing Debt and Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses), in the case of each of clause (a) and clause (b), as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date and calculated in accordance with GAAP using the Specified Accounting Principles. Schedule 1.1(b) attached hereto sets forth the Closing Net Working Capital Amount and the Closing Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount as if the Closing occurred on the Business Day immediately following the Balance Sheet Date.

“Closing Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount” means an amount equal to: the Closing Net Working Capital Amount minus (a) $13,000,000 if the Closing Net Working Capital Amount is greater than $13,000,000 or (b) $10,100,000 if the Closing Net Working Capital Amount is less than $10,100,000, it being understood that the “Closing Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount” means $0 if the Closing Net Working Capital Amount is between $10,100,000 and $13,000,000.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Company Employee” means each employee of the Company immediately before the Effective Date.

“Company Licensed IP” means all Intellectual Property licensed to the Company, other than COTS Software.

“Company Owned IP” means all Intellectual Property owned by, registered to, or purportedly owned by or registered to the Company.

“Company Registered IP” means all Company Owned IP that constitutes Registered Intellectual Property.

“Company Transaction Expenses” means (a) the fees and disbursements payable to legal counsel, accountants or other advisors of the Company that are payable by the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (b) any amounts payable to any current or former employees, officers or directors of the Company as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement pursuant to (i) agreements in existence as of the date hereof, (ii) bonuses set forth on Section 3.16(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, but specifically excluding the Special Employee Bonuses which are payable pursuant to Section 2.1(i) and Section 2.3(f), (iii) the Optionholder Pay-off Agreements, and (iv) any withholding and payroll taxes associated with (i), (ii) or (iii) herein; (c) all other miscellaneous expenses or costs, in each case, incurred by the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (d) the total costs for the R&W Insurance (including all underwriting costs and binding fees) in an aggregate amount not to exceed $880,000; and (e) the premium for directors’ and officers’ insurance for the Company’s directors and officers obtained pursuant to Section 6.8 in each case to the extent not paid by Company as of the Closing Date; provided, however, that the foregoing clauses (a) and (b) shall not include any fees, expense or disbursements incurred by Buyer, or by the Company which are on behalf of Buyer, including without limitation, the advisory fee payable to Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. and the fees and expenses of Buyer’s attorneys, accountants and other advisors.

3

“Company Transaction Expenses Tax Benefit” means the sum of the (1) estimated Tax refunds that will be received by Buyer, any Affiliate of Buyer, the Company or any affiliated group of which any of them is a member with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period, and (2) 50% of the estimated reduction in liability for Taxes of Buyer, any Affiliate of Buyer, the Company or any affiliated group of which any of them is a member with respect to any Tax period or portion thereof ending after the Closing Date, in either case resulting directly or indirectly from (including by way of a net operating loss carryback or carryover) a Company Transaction Expense or payment of the Special Employee Bonuses, in each case as set forth on Schedule 1.1(c).

“Confidentiality Agreement” means the letter agreement between the Company and Buyer dated April 2, 2015.

“Contract” means any legally binding contract, agreement, license, indenture, note, bond, loan, instrument, lease, conditional sales contract, mortgage or other arrangement or commitment, whether written or oral.

“COTS Software” means commercially available software non-exclusively licensed on standard terms for an annual cost of less than $100,000.

“Debt” means both the current and long-term portions of any amount owed (including unpaid interest thereon), without duplication and without regard to whether matured or unmatured, absolute or contingent, (a) in respect of borrowed money, (b) in respect of obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, or other similar instruments; (c) in respect of obligations to pay the deferred purchase price of assets or services excluding (i) any trade accounts payables arising in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and accrued expenses incurred and properly recorded on the Financial Statements, and (ii) the Identified Capital Expenditures; (d) capitalized lease obligations (determined under GAAP); (e) in respect of obligations to reimburse or prepay any Person in respect of amounts paid under a letter of credit, banker’s acceptance, or similar instrument in support of Debt; (f) in respect of obligations to repurchase assets previously sold (including any obligation to repurchase any accounts or chattel paper under any factoring, receivables purchase, or similar arrangement, but excluding any obligation to repurchase unsold products in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice); and (g) guarantees of obligations of the type described in clauses (a) through (g); provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Debt shall not be deemed to include any accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or any obligations under undrawn letters of credit.

“Encumbrance” means any security interest, pledge, mortgage, lien, charge, adverse claim of ownership or use, restriction on transfer (such as a right of first refusal or other similar rights), defect of title or other similar encumbrance.

“Environmental Law” means any and all Laws issued or promulgated by any Governmental Authority, relating to pollution (or the cleanup thereof) or the protection of human health, including worker health, the environment, preservation or reclamation of natural resources, or to the management or Release of Hazardous Materials, including CERCLA, the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (7 U.S.C. § 136 et seq.), the Federal Water

4

Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.), the Occupational Safety and Health Act (29 U.S.C. § 651 et seq.), the Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976 (15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.), the United States Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986 (42 U.S.C. § 11001 et seq.), the United States Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. § 300f et seq.), the United States Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. § 180 et seq.), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.) and any similar Law, and all amendments thereto or regulations promulgated thereunder effective as of the date of this Agreement.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any entity that is a member of a “controlled group of corporations” with or otherwise required to be aggregated with the Company pursuant to Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.

“Escrow Fund” means the Working Capital Escrow Fund and the Indemnity Escrow Fund.

“Estimated Adjustment Amount” means (a) Estimated Closing Cash, plus (b) Estimated Identified Capital Expenditures, less (c) the Estimated Closing Debt, less (d) the Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, in each case as finally estimated in accordance with Section 2.4(a).

“FDA” means the Food and Drug Administration.

“Final Adjustment Amount” means (a) the Closing Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount, plus (b) Closing Cash, plus (c) Identified Capital Expenditures, less (d) Closing Debt, less (d) Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, in each case as finally determined in accordance with Section 2.4(c).

“Fundamental Representations” means Section 3.1 (Authority), Section 3.2 (Organization; Subsidiaries), Section 3.3 (Capitalization), the second sentence of Section 3.13(a), Section 3.20 (Brokers), Section 4.1 (Authority), Section 4.2 (Organization) and Section 4.5 (Ownership).

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as of the date of this Agreement.

“Governmental Authority” means any national, sovereign, federal, state, local or foreign government or any political subdivision thereof, any governmental entity, commission, board, agency or instrumentality, any court, tribunal or judicial body or other governmental entity, instrumentality or official exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of government whether domestic or foreign.

“Governmental Order” means any order, judgment, injunction, award, ruling, charge, writ or decree issued, promulgated or entered by any Governmental Authority.

5

“Hazardous Material” means any material or substance that the use, generation, transportation, storage, treatment, disposal, Release of, or exposure to is prohibited or regulated by any Environmental Law.

“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, any successor statute thereto, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Identified Capital Expenditures” means the capital expenditures paid by the Company as of the Closing Date associated with the Milwaukie facility’s installation of a Divider, Molder and Auto-Enrober including those amounts set forth on Schedule 1.1(d); provided, however, if after the Effective Date, the Company believes that amounts paid prior to Closing are reasonably likely to exceed the amounts set forth on Schedule 1.1(d), then the Company shall provide an updated Schedule 1.1(d), and to the extent permitted by Law, consult with the Buyer as to the anticipated increases, with such increases not to exceed $2,500,000.

“Income Tax” means any federal, state, local or non-U.S. income Tax measured by or imposed on net income, including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto.

“Income Tax Return” means any Tax Return relating to Income Tax.

“Indemnity Escrow Fund” means an amount equal to $1,375,000 to be held for the purpose of securing the obligations of the Sellers in Article XII.

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property and other similar proprietary rights in any jurisdiction worldwide, whether registered or unregistered, including such rights in and to: (a) industrial designs, industrial design registrations, patents (including all reissues, divisions, provisionals, continuations and continuations-in-part, re-examinations, renewals and extensions thereof), patent applications, patent disclosures or other indicia of ownership of an invention, discovery or improvement issued by an Governmental Authority; (b) copyrights, whether in published or unpublished works of authorship and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals for any of the foregoing, and any “moral” rights or other similar rights recognized in a work of authorship by a Governmental Authority; (c) trademarks, service marks, trade names, business names, logos, trade dress, certification marks and other indicia of commercial source or origin together with all goodwill associated with the foregoing, and all registrations, applications and renewals for any of the foregoing; (d) trade secrets and business, technical and know-how information, databases, data collections and other confidential and proprietary information that is not generally known or readily ascertainable and all rights therein (“Trade Secrets”); (e) software, including data files, source code, object code, application programming interfaces, architecture, files, records, schematics, computerized databases and other software-related specifications and documentation; (f) Internet domain name registrations and social media addresses and accounts; (g) recipes and formulas; and (h) any and all other intellectual or industrial property rights recognized by any Governmental Authority under the Laws of any country throughout the world.

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service, and any successor agency thereto.

6

“Knowledge of the Company” and any other phrases of similar import means, with respect to any matter in question relating to the Company, means the actual knowledge, after reasonable inquiry, of John Tucker, John Wells, Greg Intlekofer and Martin Nash.

“Law” means any common law or federal, state, county, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, Governmental Order or regulation or code of any Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction.

“Liability” means any and all debts, liabilities and obligations of any kind or nature, whether accrued or fixed, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, or determined or determinable.

“Loss” means any Liability, claim, judgment, damage, award, loss, penalty, fine, cost, Tax, settlement, or obligation, including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, but excluding any special, indirect, consequential, exemplary or punitive damages, and any damages associated with any lost profits or lost opportunities (including loss of future revenue, income or profits, diminution of value or loss of business reputation). The parties acknowledge and agree that “Losses” will be calculated without application of any multiple of revenue or earnings to any of the foregoing items that would otherwise constitute a “Loss”.

“Material Adverse Effect” means any change or effect that is, or would reasonably be expected to be, materially adverse to the business, operations, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operations of the Company, taken as a whole; provided, however, that none of the following shall be deemed, either alone or in combination, to constitute, and no change or effect arising from or attributable or relating to any of the following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect: (a) the execution, delivery, public announcement or pendency of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated herein or compliance with the terms of, or the taking of any action required by, this Agreement, or otherwise taken with the consent of Buyer, including the impact thereof on the relationships of the Company with customers, suppliers, consultants, employees or independent contractors or other third parties with whom the Company has any relationship; (b) conditions affecting the industry in which the Company operates or participates, the U.S. economy or financial markets, other than any such condition that has a materially disproportionate effect on the Company relative to other Persons principally engaged in the same industry as the Company; (c) any change in GAAP or applicable Laws (or interpretation thereof); (d) any acts of God, calamities, acts of war or terrorism, or national or international political or social conditions; (e) any action required to be taken under applicable Laws, including any actions taken or required to be taken by the Company in order to obtain any approval or authorization for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under applicable antitrust or competition Laws; or (f) any failure in and of itself by the Company to meet any projections, estimates or forecasts for any period.

“Permit” means any license, authorization, registration, certificate, franchise, approval or permit issued by any Governmental Authority.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means (a) all statutory or other liens for current Taxes or assessments which are not yet due and payable or Taxes the validity of which are being contested

7

in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (b) all landlords’, workmen’s, repairmen’s, warehousemen’s and carriers’ liens and other similar liens imposed by Law if payment is not yet due and payable on the underlying obligation, or as may contested in good faith and for which appropriate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP; (c) Encumbrances that will be released and discharged at or prior to the Closing; and (d) all matters of record, easements, claims of easement and other imperfections of title and Encumbrances that, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the use of such property (real or personal) or assets of the Company.

“Person” means any individual, general or limited partnership, firm, corporation, limited liability company, association, trust, unincorporated organization or other entity.

“Post-Closing Payment Schedule” means a schedule, prepared by the Shareholders’ Representative with respect to any Positive Adjustment Amount, any Escrow Fund Excess Amount or any Expense Fund Excess Amount, as applicable, setting forth (a) to the extent applicable for each Seller: (i) such Seller’s name and wire transfer instructions and (ii) the number and type of Shares held by such Seller; and (b) the portion of such Positive Adjustment Amount, such Escrow Fund Excess Amount or such Expense Fund Excess Amount, as applicable, to be paid to each Seller.

“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax period (other than a Straddle Period) of the Company ending after the Closing Date, and, in the case of a Straddle Period, the portion of such Straddle Period beginning on the day immediately following the Closing Date.

“PPACA” means the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax period of the Company ending on or prior to the Closing Date, and, in the case of a Straddle Period, the portion of such Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date.

“Pro Rata Portion” means as to each Seller as of any specific date, the ratio equal to (a) the portion of the Purchase Price to be paid to such Seller divided by (b) the Purchase Price, as forth on Schedule 2.1 attached hereto.

“Registered Intellectual Property” means any active copyright registration or application for registration, design registration or application for registration, patent or patent application, trademark registration or application for registration, or Internet domain name registration or social media address or account.

“Related Party” means: (a) each of the Sellers; (b) each individual who is an officer or board member of the Company or any of the Sellers; (c) each member of the immediate family of each of the individuals referenced in (a) and (b) above; and (d) any trust or other Person (other than the Company) in which any one of the individuals referred to in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above holds (or in which more than one of such individuals collectively hold), beneficially or otherwise, a controlling voting, proprietary or equity interest.

“Release” has the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 101(22) of CERCLA (42 U.S.C. § 9601(22)).

8

“R&W Insurance” means that certain binding representations and warranties insurance policy for the benefit of Buyer and Buyer’s Affiliates issued as of the Closing Date by Illinois Union Insurance Company, a copy of which has been provided to the Shareholders’ Representative.

“Special Employee Bonuses” means those certain bonuses described and defined in Section 3.16(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

“Straddle Period” means any Tax period of the Company that begins on or before the Closing Date and ends after the Closing Date.

“Subsidiary” means with respect to any entity, that such entity shall be deemed to be a “Subsidiary” of another Person if such other Person directly or indirectly owns, beneficially or of record, an amount of voting securities of other interests in such entity that is sufficient to enable such Person to elect at least a majority of the members of such entity’s board of directors or other governing body.

“Tax” or “Taxes” means any and all taxes, assessments, levies, tariffs, duties or other charges or impositions in the nature of a tax (together with any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and additional amounts imposed with respect thereto) imposed by any Governmental Authority, including income, estimated income, gross receipts, profits, license, occupation, franchise, capital stock, real or personal property, sales, use, transfer, value added, employment or unemployment, social security, disability, alternative or add-on minimum, customs, excise, stamp, environmental, commercial rent or withholding taxes.

“Tax Return” means any return (including any information return or statement), report, claim for refund or other document (including any schedule or attachment thereto and any amendment thereof) filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to, any Governmental Authority with respect to any Tax.

“Trade Secrets” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property.

“Transfer Taxes” means any and all transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration, value added, goods and services, recording and other similar Taxes incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including any real property or leasehold interest transfer Tax and any similar Tax).

“Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses” means Company Transaction Expenses, but only to the extent they have not been paid by or on behalf of the Company in Cash on or prior to the close of business on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date and have, accordingly, not reduced the Closing Cash.

“USDA” means the United States Department of Agriculture.

“Working Capital Escrow Fund” means an amount equal to $1,000,000 to be held for the purpose of securing the obligations of the Company and the Sellers in Section 2.4.

9

Section 1.2 Certain Additional Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the respective sections of this Agreement set forth opposite each such term below:

Term | Section
Accounting Firm | 2.4(c)(iv)
Agreement | Preamble
Balance Sheet Date | 3.6(a)
Buyer | Preamble
Buyer Indemnified Parties | 12.1
Buyer Subsidiaries | 5.5
Buyer Termination Fee | 10.2
Claims Notice | 12.3(a)
Closing | 2.2
Closing Balance Sheet | 2.4(b)
Closing Date | 2.2
Closing Date Payment | 2.1(i)
Closing Date Purchase Price | 2.1(f)
Closing Date Schedule | 2.4(b)
Closing Employee Payments | 2.3(f)
Common Stock | 3.3(a)
Company | Preamble
Company Benefit Plan | 3.16(a)
Company Disclosure Schedule | Article III
Company Financial Statements | 3.6(a)
Company Indemnified Parties | 7.1(a)
Company Organizational Documents | 3.2(a)
Company Pre-Closing Certificate | 2.4(a)
Company Representatives | 6.1
Current Balance Sheet | 3.6(a)
DDT | Preamble
Dispute Notice | 2.4(c)(ii)
Effective Date | Preamble
Escrow Agent | 2.3(d)
Escrow Agreement | 2.3(d)
Escrow Fund Excess Amount | 2.4(d)(iii)
Estimated Closing Cash | 2.4(a)
Estimated Closing Debt | 2.4(a)
Estimated Identified Capital Expenditures | 2.4(a)
Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses | 2.4(a)
Excluded Claims | 12.4(b)
Expense Fund Excess Amount | 2.4(d)(iv)
Expert Calculations | 2.4(c)(iv)
Expiration Date | 12.4(a)
Final Closing Date Payment Schedule | 2.3(a)
Fraud Claims | 12.4(a)

10

Term | Section
GDT | Preamble
GSC | Preamble
GSH | Preamble
Guarantor | Preamble
Holder Group | 13.6
Indemnified Party | 12.3(a)
Indemnifying Party | 12.3(a)
Leased Real Property | 3.12(b)
Liability Claim | 12.3(a)
Listed Contracts | 3.15(a)
Litigation Conditions | 12.3(b)
Major Customers | 3.21(b)
Major Suppliers | 3.21(a)
Mini-Basket | 12.4(b)
Negative Adjustment Amount | 2.4(d)(i)
Optionholder | 3.3(a)
Optionholder Pay-Off Agreements | 6.4(a)
Outside Date | 10.1(c)
Positive Adjustment Amount | 2.4(d)(ii)
Pre-Closing Period | 6.1
Property Taxes | 11.2
Purchase and Sale | 2.1
Purchase Price | 2.1(h)
Review Period | 2.4(c)(ii)
SDT | Preamble
Seller Indemnified Parties | 12.2
Sellers | Preamble
Shareholders’ Representative | 13.1(a)
Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund | 2.3(e)
Shares | Recitals
Specified Accounting Principles | 2.4(a)
Stock Options | 3.3(a)
Tax Losses | 12.4(c)
Threshold Amount | 12.4(b)

ARTICLE II.
THE PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 2.1 Purchase and Sale. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Buyer shall purchase from the Sellers, and each Seller shall, severally and not jointly, sell and transfer to Buyer, the Shares owned by such Seller that are set forth on Schedule 2.1 attached hereto (the “Purchase and Sale”), for an aggregate amount in cash (adjusted to the nearest whole cent), equal to the sum of the following:

11

(a)Two Hundred Seventy Five Million Dollars ($275,000,000), plus

(b)the Estimated Closing Cash, plus

(c)an amount equal to the Company Transaction Expenses Tax Benefit, plus

(d)the Estimated Identified Capital Expenditures, less

(e)the Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, less

(f)the Estimated Closing Debt, (the result of clauses (a) through (f), the “Closing Date Purchase Price”); plus

(g)any Positive Adjustment Amount; less

(h)any Negative Adjustment Amount (the result of clauses (a) through (h), the “Purchase Price”).

(i)For purposes of this Agreement, the amount equal to (i) the Closing Date Purchase Price less (ii) the sum of (A) the Escrow Fund and (B) the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund shall be referred to herein as the “Closing Date Payment”. As of any specific date, the aggregate cash amount to be paid to each Seller hereunder shall be calculated in accordance with the Seller’s Pro Rata Portion set forth on Schedule 2.1. Similarly, in the event that the Purchase Price payable pursuant to this Section 2.1(i) is reduced as a result of a payment to Buyer from the Escrow Fund or to the Shareholders’ Representative from the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund in accordance with this Agreement, the portion of the Purchase Price to which each Seller is otherwise entitled hereunder shall be calculated by so reducing the aggregate Purchase Price and then determining the distribution of the remaining portion of the Purchase Price in accordance with the preceding sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing, immediately prior to the Closing, a portion of the Closing Date Payment otherwise payable to each of GDT, DDT and SDT equal to the Special Employee Bonuses shall be transferred, on their behalf, pro rata in proportion to the Closing Date Payments, to the Company as a capital contribution. The Company shall use such amount to pay all the Special Employee Bonuses pursuant to Section 2.3(f).

Section 2.2 Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall take place by electronic exchange of signature pages, documents and funds on a date to be mutually agreed to by the parties hereto, which date shall be no later than three (3) Business Days after the satisfaction or waiver of the last of the conditions set forth in ARTICLE IX to be satisfied or waived (other than those conditions to be satisfied at the Closing but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions), or at such other time, date and location as the parties hereto agree in writing (such date hereinafter, the “Closing Date”). The Company shall provide written notice of the Closing Date to Buyer promptly after such date is known.

12

Section 2.3 Certain Closing Date Payments.

(a)Closing Date Payment Schedule. At least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing, the Company shall prepare and deliver to Buyer the Company’s good faith draft of the Closing Date Payment Schedule. The Company may update the Closing Date Payment Schedule from time to time prior to the Closing, and shall provide Buyer with a final Closing Date Payment Schedule at least one (1) Business Day prior to the Closing (the “Final Closing Date Payment Schedule”).

(b)Payment of Closing Date Payment. At the Closing, Buyer shall pay or cause to be paid the applicable portion of the Closing Date Payment to each Seller, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, in accordance with the payment instructions contained in the Final Closing Date Payment Schedule.

(c)Payment of Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses and Closing Debt. At the Closing, Buyer shall pay or cause to be paid (i) all Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, as directed by the Company in writing at or prior to Closing and (ii) all Closing Debt, as directed by the Company in writing at or prior to Closing.

(d)Deposit of Escrow Fund. At the Closing, Buyer shall deposit an amount equal to the Working Capital Escrow Fund and an amount equal to the Indemnity Escrow Fund with Union Bank, N.A. or an alternative nationally recognized banking corporation reasonably agreed to by the Shareholders’ Representative and Buyer (the “Escrow Agent”) to hold in separate accounts and distribute in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the escrow agreement to be executed at Closing by Buyer, the Escrow Agent and the Shareholders’ Representative in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Escrow Agreement”).

(e)Deposit of Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund. At the Closing, Buyer shall deposit an amount equal to $250,000 (the “Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund”) with the Shareholders’ Representative, which the Shareholders’ Representative shall hold in a segregated account and distribute in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(f)Payments to Employees. On the Closing Date, Buyer shall deposit with the Company an amount equal to (i) the portion of the Company Transaction Expenses attributable to the payments in subsection (b) of the definition of the Company Transaction Expenses, plus (ii) the Special Employee Bonuses (the “Closing Employee Payments”). Promptly, and no later than the first regular payroll date of the Company following the Closing Date, the Company shall pay or cause to be paid all Closing Employee Payments, less any Taxes required to be withheld pursuant to Section 2.6. For clarity, for purposes of determining the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, an amount of cash equal to the Closing Employee Payments will not be treated as a current asset, or as cash or a cash equivalent asset, of the Company at Closing, nor will the obligations arising in connection with such payments be treated as current liabilities of the Company at Closing.

Section 2.4 Purchase Price Adjustment.

(a)Estimated Purchase Price. Not later than two (2) days before the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Buyer and the Shareholders’ Representative a certificate of the

13

Company (the “Company Pre-Closing Certificate”) executed on its behalf by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company that sets forth in reasonable detail the Company’s estimates of the Closing Cash (“Estimated Closing Cash”), Identified Capital Expenditures (the “Estimated Identified Capital Expenditures”), Closing Debt (“Estimated Closing Debt”) and Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses (“Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses”), along with reasonable supporting detail therefore, such estimates to be prepared in accordance with GAAP, using the policies, conventions, methodologies and procedures set forth on Schedule 2.4(a) attached hereto and used by the Company in preparation of Schedule 1.1(d) (the “Specified Accounting Principles”). Prior to Closing, the Company and Buyer shall cooperate in good faith to agree upon the calculation of the Estimated Closing Cash, Estimated Identified Capital Expenditures, Estimated Closing Debt and Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses upon which the Closing Date Purchase Price shall be based; provided that, if the Company and Buyer are unable to agree as to any item set forth on the Company Pre-Closing Certificate, then the amount set forth as the Estimated Closing Cash, Estimated Identified Capital Expenditures, Estimated Closing Debt or Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, as applicable, on the Company Pre-Closing Certificate shall be deemed to be the parties’ estimate of Estimated Closing Cash, Estimated Identified Capital Expenditures, Estimated Closing Debt or Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, as applicable.

(b)Calculation. As promptly as practicable, but in no event later than forty-five (45) days following the Closing Date, Buyer shall cause the Company, at its expense, (i) to cause to be prepared, in accordance with GAAP, using the policies, conventions, methodologies and procedures used by the Company in preparing the Company Financial Statements, an unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date, but which shall not reflect the transactions occurring at the Closing (the “Closing Balance Sheet”), together with a statement (the “Closing Date Schedule”) setting forth in reasonable detail the Company’s calculation of the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses in each case with reasonable supporting detail therefore, such calculations to be prepared in accordance with GAAP using the Specified Accounting Principles; and (ii) deliver to the Shareholders’ Representative the Closing Balance Sheet and the Closing Date Schedule, together with a certificate of the Company executed on its behalf by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company confirming that the Closing Balance Sheet and the Closing Date Schedule were properly prepared in good faith and in accordance with the Specified Accounting Principles and this Section 2.4(b).

(c)Review; Disputes.

(i)From and after the Closing, Buyer shall and shall cause the Company to provide the Shareholders’ Representative and any accountants or advisors retained by the Shareholders’ Representative with full access to the books and records of the Company for the purposes of: (A) enabling the Shareholders’ Representative and its accountants and advisors to calculate, and to review the Company’s calculation of, the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses; and (B) identifying any dispute related to the calculation of any of the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt or the Unpaid Company Transaction

14

Expenses. The reasonable fees and expenses of any such accountants and advisors retained by the Shareholders’ Representative shall not be the personal obligations of the Shareholders’ Representative and shall be paid by the Shareholders’ Representative (on behalf of the Sellers) from the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund.

(ii)If the Shareholders’ Representative disputes the calculation of any of the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt or the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses set forth in the Closing Date Schedule, then the Shareholders’ Representative shall deliver a written notice (a “Dispute Notice”) to Buyer and the Company at any time during the forty-five (45)-day period commencing upon receipt by the Shareholders’ Representative of the Closing Balance Sheet, the Closing Date Schedule and the related certificate of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, all as prepared by the Company in accordance with the requirements of Section 2.4(b) (subject to automatic extension for any period of inadequate access to the underlying records pursuant to Section 2.4(c)(i) (the “Review Period”). The Dispute Notice shall set forth the basis for the dispute of any such calculation in reasonable detail.

(iii)If the Shareholders’ Representative does not deliver a Dispute Notice to the Company prior to the expiration of the Review Period, the Company’s calculation of the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses set forth in the Closing Date Schedule shall be deemed final and binding on Buyer, the Company, the Shareholders’ Representative and the Sellers for all purposes of this Agreement.

(iv)If the Shareholders’ Representative delivers a Dispute Notice to Buyer prior to the expiration of the Review Period, then the Shareholders’ Representative and Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to reach agreement on the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses. If the Shareholders’ Representative and Buyer are unable to reach agreement on the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt, and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses within thirty (30) days following delivery of the Dispute Notice, either party shall have the right to refer such dispute to an accounting firm of national reputation that is independent of Buyer and the Company and is reasonably acceptable to both the Shareholders’ Representative and Buyer (such firm, or any successor thereto, being referred to herein as the “Accounting Firm”) after such thirtieth day. In connection with the resolution of any such dispute by the Accounting Firm: (A) each of Buyer and the Shareholders’ Representative shall have a reasonable opportunity to meet with the Accounting Firm to provide their views as to any disputed issues with respect to the calculation of any of the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses; (B) the Accounting Firm shall determine the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and using the Specified Accounting Principles within thirty (30) days of such referral and upon reaching such determination shall deliver a copy of its calculations (the “Expert Calculations”) to the Shareholders’ Representative, Buyer and the Escrow Agent; and (C)

15

the determination made by the Accounting Firm of the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses shall be final and binding on Buyer, the Company, the Shareholders’ Representative and the Sellers for all purposes of this Agreement, absent manifest error. In calculating the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, the Accounting Firm (x) shall be limited to addressing any particular disputes referred to in the Dispute Notice and (y) such calculation shall, with respect to any disputed item, be no greater than the higher amount calculated by the Shareholders’ Representative or the Company, and no less than the lower amount calculated by the Shareholders’ Representative or the Company, as the case may be. The Expert Calculations shall reflect in detail the differences, if any, between the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses reflected therein and the Closing Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Cash, Identified Capital Expenditures, Closing Debt and the Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses set forth in the Closing Date Schedule. The fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne equally by Buyer and the Shareholders’ Representative (on behalf of the Sellers) (it being understood that any fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm payable by the Shareholders’ Representative (on behalf of the Sellers) shall be payable from the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund).

(d)Payment upon Final Determination of Adjustments.

(i)If (A) the Estimated Adjustment Amount is greater than (B) the Final Adjustment Amount (such difference between the Final Adjustment Amount and the Estimated Adjustment Amount, the “Negative Adjustment Amount”), then (x) the Shareholders’ Representative and Buyer shall deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent directing the Escrow Agent to deliver an amount equal to the Negative Adjustment Amount (from dollar one) from the Working Capital Escrow Fund, to Buyer and (y) each Seller shall pay to Buyer within two (2) Business Days the applicable portion of the difference, if any, between the Negative Adjustment Amount and the Working Capital Escrow Fund.

(ii)If (A) the Final Adjustment Amount is greater than (B) the Estimated Adjustment Amount (such difference between the Final Adjustment Amount and the Estimated Adjustment Amount, the “Positive Adjustment Amount”), then (x) the Shareholders’ Representative shall prepare a Post-Closing Payment Schedule with respect to an amount equal to the Positive Adjustment Amount (from dollar one) and deliver such Post-Closing Payment Schedule to Buyer, and (y) no later than two (2) Business Days after receipt of such Post-Closing Payment Schedule and in accordance with the Post-Closing Payment Schedule, Buyer shall pay, or cause the Company to pay, the applicable portion of the Positive Adjustment Amount set forth in the Post-Closing Payment Schedule to each Seller, as applicable.

(iii)Promptly following the payment of the Final Adjustment Amount pursuant to this Section 2.4(d) (and in any event within two (2) Business Days after the

16

date of such payment) any amount remaining in the Working Capital Escrow Fund (such remaining portion, the “Escrow Fund Excess Amount”) shall be paid to the Sellers, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, in accordance with the payment instructions contained in the Post-Closing Payment Schedule.

(iv)In connection with the payment of the Final Adjustment Amount pursuant to this Section 2.4(d) and the preparation of the Post-Closing Payment Schedule, Shareholders’ Representative shall include in the Post-Closing Payment Schedule any amount remaining in the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund following the payment of any amounts pursuant to Section 13.1 to the Shareholders’ Representative in connection with costs and expenses incurred or to be incurred by the Shareholders’ Representative resulting from the performance of its rights or obligations under this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement and the taking of any and all actions in connection therewith (such remaining portion, the “Expense Fund Excess Amount”). Promptly after the payment of the Final Adjustment Amount, the Shareholders’ Representative shall promptly (and in any event within two (2) Business Days) following preparation of such Post-Closing Payment Schedule pay from the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund, to each Seller the applicable portion of the Expense Fund Excess Amount set forth in the Post-Closing Payment Schedule in accordance therewith.

Section 2.5 Transfer Taxes. Buyer shall be responsible for and shall timely pay (without any adjustment to or deduction or withholding from the Purchase Price) all Transfer Taxes arising from or in connection with the transactions effected pursuant to this Agreement. Buyer shall, at its own expense, timely file all Tax Returns with respect to such Transfer Taxes. The Sellers will cooperate as reasonably requested by Buyer in filing any such Tax Returns and will provide any information and take any other actions as Buyer shall reasonably request in connection with filing any such Tax Returns.

Section 2.6 Withholding. Buyer shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any payment made pursuant to this Agreement such amounts as are required to be deducted and withheld with respect to such payment under the Code, or any other provision of applicable Law; provided, however, that there shall be no withholding from any payment if, on or before the Closing Date, each Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a duly executed and properly completed IRS Form W-9 establishing a complete exemption from backup withholding and complied with Section 9.3(f). To the extent that any amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts (a) shall be remitted by Buyer to the applicable Governmental Authority, and (b) shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such withholding was made.

ARTICLE III.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Attached hereto is a disclosure schedule prepared by the Company with numbered sections corresponding to the relevant sections in this Agreement (the “Company Disclosure Schedule”). Any exception or qualification set forth in the Company Disclosure Schedule with respect to a particular representation, warranty or covenant contained herein shall be deemed to

17

be an exception or qualification with respect to all other representations, warranties and covenants contained in this Agreement if the applicability of such exception or qualification to any other representation, warranty or covenant would be reasonably apparent to a Person reviewing the Company Disclosure Schedule, regardless of whether an explicit reference to such other representation, warranty or covenant is made. Nothing in the Company Disclosure Schedule is intended to broaden the scope of any representation, warranty or covenant of the Company contained in this Agreement. Subject to the exceptions and qualifications set forth in the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company hereby represents and warrants to Buyer as follows with respect to the Company:

Section 3.1 Authority. The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder, and the consummation by the Company of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, have been duly authorized by the board of directors of the Company, and no other corporate action on the part of the Company is necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder or the consummation by the Company of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties to this Agreement, this Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be subject to (a) the effect of any applicable Law of general application relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights and relief of debtors generally and (b) the effect of rules of Law and general principles of equity, including rules of Law and general principles of equity governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at Law).

Section 3.2 Organization; Subsidiaries.

(a)The Company is a corporation, duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Oregon, and has the requisite corporate power and authority to own, operate or lease the properties and assets now owned, operated or leased by it, and to carry on the Company’s business as currently conducted. The Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign company, and is in good standing (where such concept is recognized), under the Laws of each jurisdiction in which the character of its properties owned, operated or leased, or the nature of its activities, makes such qualification necessary, except in those jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing, when taken together with all other failures by the Company to be so qualified or in good standing, would not have a Material Adverse Effect. True and complete copies of the Company’s organizational documents (collectively, the “Company Organizational Documents”), each as amended and in effect as of the date of this Agreement, have been made available to Buyer or its advisors.

(b)The Company does not have any Subsidiaries.

18

Section 3.3 Capitalization.

(a)The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 10,000,000 shares of common stock (the “Common Stock”), 5,000,000 of which are issued and outstanding and (ii) 10,000,000 shares of convertible preferred stock, 5,000,000 of which are issued and outstanding, and are collectively owned and held of record by the Sellers. As of the date of this Agreement, there are 608,000 stock options for the purchase of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding (“Stock Options”). Section 3.3(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of the Shares owned by each Seller and a list of each Stock Option, the strike price, the holder thereof (each, an “Optionholder”) and whether each Stock Option is fully vested or will be fully vested as of the Closing.

(b)The Shares have not been issued in violation of any purchase option, call, right of first refusal, preemptive, subscription or similar rights under any provision of applicable Law, the charter and bylaws of the Company, or any Contract to which the Company is subject or by which it is bound. Except as set forth in Section 3.3(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no outstanding warrants, options, rights, agreements, convertible or exchangeable securities or other commitments pursuant to which either the Company is or may become obligated to issue, sell, purchase, return or redeem any Shares. There are no agreements with respect to the voting or transfer of the Company’s capital stock, other than this Agreement.

Section 3.4 Conflicts. Assuming all consents, waivers, approvals, authorizations, orders, Permits, declarations, filings, registrations and notifications and other actions set forth in Section 3.5 have been obtained or made, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder, and the consummation by the Company of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, does not and will not (i) conflict with or result in a violation of the Company Organizational Documents; (ii) conflict with or result in a violation of any Governmental Order or Law applicable to the Company or its assets or properties; or (iii) result in a breach of, or constitute a default (or event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would become a default) under, or give rise to any rights of termination, amendment, modification, acceleration or cancellation of or loss of any material benefit under, or result in the creation of any Encumbrance on any of the assets or properties of the Company pursuant to, any Contract to which the Company is a party, or by which any of the assets or properties of the Company is bound, except, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) of this Section 3.4, as would not result in a material liability to the Company.

Section 3.5 Consents, Approvals, Etc. No consent, waiver, approval, authorization, order or Permit of, or declaration, filing or registration with, or notification to, any Governmental Authority is required to be made or obtained by the Company in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder, or the consummation by the Company of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except: (a) applicable requirements, if any, under the Act, federal or state securities or “blue sky” Laws; (b) such filings as may be required under the HSR Act; (c) as set forth in Section 3.5 of the Company Disclosure Schedule; and (d) any failure to obtain any of the foregoing that would not, when taken together with all other such failures, result in a Liability that is material in nature or amount to the Company.

19

Section 3.6 Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities.

(a)The Company has prepared, or caused to be prepared, and made available to Buyer or its advisors the audited financial statements of the Company (including the balance sheet and the related statements of operations, shareholders’ capital and cash flows of the Company) as of and for each of the fiscal years ended December 25, 2013, and December 30, 2014 and the unaudited financial statements of the Company (including the balance sheet and the related statements of operations, shareholders’ capital and cash flows of the Company) as of and for the year to date period ended June 20, 2015 (collectively, the “Company Financial Statements”). Except as set forth therein, the Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods indicated therein and with each other, (except that such financial statements which are unaudited do not contain all of the footnotes required under GAAP and are subject to year-end adjustments), and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of the respective dates and during the respective periods indicated therein. The unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of June 20, 2015 shall be referred to in this Agreement as the “Current Balance Sheet” and the date thereof shall be referred to in this Agreement as the “Balance Sheet Date.”

(b)The Company has no material Liabilities that would be required to be shown on the Company Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP, other than (i) as disclosed, reflected or reserved against in the Company Financial Statements and (ii) Liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date and not otherwise in violation of this Agreement, or (iii) otherwise disclosed on Section 3.6(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

(c)To the Knowledge of the Company, there have been no instances of fraud that involve the Company’s management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting.

(d)The financial books and records of the Company represent actual, bona fide transactions.

(e)All accounts receivable and notes receivable due and uncollected of the Company reflected on the Company Financial Statements or arising subsequent to the Balance Sheet Date have arisen from bona fide transactions in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. The Company has good and marketable title to its accounts receivable, free and clear of all Encumbrances except for Permitted Encumbrances.

(f)Since the Balance Sheet Date, there have not been any write-offs of any notes or accounts receivable of the Company nor is there any such write-off that has not been made but that is required to be made consistent with past practice, as of the date of this Agreement, except in each case for write-offs that were properly recorded on the Company Financial Statements.

Section 3.7 Certain Changes or Events. Between January 1, 2015 and the Effective Date, there has not been, occurred or arisen:

20

(a)any event or condition of any kind or character that has had a Material Adverse Effect;

(b)any amendment or modification to the Company Organizational Documents;

(c)any issuance, delivery, sale or grant of (i) shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company, except upon the exercise of warrants, options, rights, agreements, convertible or exchangeable securities or other commitments, (ii) any warrants, options, rights, agreements, convertible or exchangeable securities, (iii) any “phantom” stock, “phantom” stock rights, stock appreciation rights or stock-based performance units, or (iv) other commitments obligating the Company to issue, sell, purchase, return or redeem any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company;

(d)any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend, or other distribution or capital return in respect of any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company, or any redemption, repurchase or other acquisition by the Company of any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company;

(e)(i) any material damage, destruction or other material casualty loss (whether or not covered by insurance) affecting the Company or the assets of, or property owned, leased or otherwise used by the Company; (ii) any sale (except for inventory in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice), lease, or disposition of any material asset of the Company; or (iii) any mortgage, pledge, or imposition of any Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances) upon, any material asset of the Company;

(f)any sale, assignment, transfer or license, or agreement to sell, assign, transfer or license, any material Intellectual Property, other than nonexclusive licenses granted in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(g)any acquisition (by merger, consolidation or other combination, or acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise) by the Company of any Person or division, or business of or equity interest in any Person, except for purchases of inventory, components or supplies in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(h)any material change in any method of financial or Tax accounting or financial or Tax accounting practice used by the Company, other than such changes as are required by GAAP or Tax law, as applicable;

(i)any material Tax election (including any change to any such election);

(j)any employment agreement with a Company Employee entered into or amended;

(k)(i) any cancellation or waiver of any material claims or material rights with a value to the Company or (ii) any settlement or compromise of any material Actions, other than such Actions in which the amount paid in settlement or compromise, including the cost to the Company of complying with any provisions of such settlement or compromise other than cash payments, does not exceed $100,000 without regard to any amount covered by insurance;

21

(l)any capital expenditure, or commitment for a capital expenditure in excess of $100,000 individually or $500,000 in the aggregate (excluding any individual capital expenditures or commitments for capital expenditures in amounts less than $50,000), for additions or improvements to the property, plant and equipment of the Company, other than the Identified Capital Expenditures;

(m)any amendment, termination, or written notice of termination of any Contract involving a commitment by the Company extending for more than one year and involving a total remaining commitment by the Company of at least $100,000;

(n)any loan, advance or capital contribution to or investment in any Person;

(o)any default in any Liability set forth on the Company Financial Statements that has not since been cured and that, taken together with all other defaults in Liabilities set forth on the Company Financial Statements, resulted in or is reasonably likely to result in Losses to the Company in excess of $50,000.

(p)any labor dispute, other than routine individual grievances, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any activity or proceeding by a labor union or representative thereof to organize any Company Employees, or any lockouts, strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threats thereof by or with respect to any Company Employees; or

(q)any agreement, other than this Agreement, to take any actions specified in this Section 3.7.

Section 3.8 Tax Matters.

(a)All Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company have been timely filed and such Tax Returns are complete and correct in all material respects. All Taxes shown as due and outstanding on such Tax Returns have been timely paid, other than such Taxes, if any, as are being contested in good faith. All Taxes that the Company is required to withhold in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor or stockholder have been duly withheld and, to the extent required, have been paid to the proper Governmental Authority.

(b)Section 3.8(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all Tax Returns filed with respect to the Company for Tax periods ended on or after December 31, 2012, indicates those Tax Returns that have been audited or for which the applicable Governmental Authority has notified the Company in writing that an audit will begin in the future, and indicates those Tax Returns that currently are the subject of audit. The Sellers have delivered to Buyer correct and complete copies of all Income Tax Returns, examination reports, and statements of deficiencies filed, assessed against or agreed to by the Company since December 31, 2012. No Governmental Authority has indicated in writing to the Company that it will assess any additional Taxes for any period for which Tax Returns have been filed.

(c)The Company has not waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to and Tax assessment or deficiency.

22

(d)The Company has not been a member of an affiliated group of corporations, within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code filing a consolidated federal Income Tax Return, other than a group the common parent of which is the Company. The Company has no liability for the Taxes of any Person other than the Company under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502‑6 (or any similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. law).

(e)The Company has not (i) made any change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date, (ii) executed any “closing agreement” as described in Code Section 7121 (or any corresponding or similar provision of Income Tax Law) on or prior to the Closing Date, (iii) entered into any intercompany transaction or created any excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under Code Section 1502 (or any corresponding provision of Income Tax Law), (iv) entered into any installment sale or open transaction disposition on or prior to the Closing Date, (v) received any prepaid amount on or prior to the Closing Date, or (vi) made an election under Code Section 108(i), in each case, to the extent any such action would increase the Company’s liability for Taxes in a Post-Closing Tax Period.

(f)The Company is not a party to any Tax allocation or sharing agreement.

(g)The Company has not been a “United States real property holding corporation” within the meaning of Code Section 897(c)(2) during the applicable period specified in Code Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii).

(h)The Company is not and has not been a party to any (i) “listed transaction,” as defined in Section 6707A(c)(2) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b)(2).

(i)The Company has disclosed on its U.S. federal Income Tax Returns all positions taken therein that could give rise to a substantial understatement of U.S. federal Income Tax within the meaning of Code Section 6662.

(j)The representations and warranties set forth in this Section 3.8 are the sole representations and warranties of the Company as to Tax matters.

Section 3.9 Litigation and Governmental Orders. There are no Actions pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company, any of the assets or properties of the Company, or any of the board members and officers of the Company in their capacity as board members or officers of the Company. Neither the Company nor any of the Company’s assets and properties is subject to any Governmental Order.

Section 3.10 Compliance with Laws.

(a)The Company is conducting its business in compliance in all material respects with applicable Law. Since January 1, 2013, the Company has not received any written notice from any Governmental Authority to the effect that the Company is not in compliance with any applicable Law.

(b)Since January 1, 2013, the Company has not received and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no third party that manufactures or processes products for the Company received written notice that the products sold by the Company are or at any time have been the subject of

23

any warning letter, written notice of violation, seizure, injunction, regulatory enforcement action, or criminal Action issued, initiated or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened by the FDA or USDA or other Governmental Authority.

Section 3.11 Permits. The Company has all material Permits required to permit the Company to conduct its business as currently conducted, each of which is listed on Section 3.11 of the Company Disclosure Schedule. All of the material Permits held by or issued to the Company are in full force and effect, and the Company is in compliance with each such material Permit held by or issued to them. To the Knowledge of the Company, there are no processes pending or threatened that would be reasonably likely to result in the revocation, cancellation or suspension of any such material Permit by any Governmental Authority.

Section 3.12 Real Property.

(a)The Company does not own any real property.

(b)Section 3.12(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a true, correct and complete list of each item of real property that is leased from or to a third party by the Company (“Leased Real Property”), the name of the third party lessor(s) or lessee(s) thereof, as the case may be, the date of the lease contract relating thereto and all amendments thereof. (i) All Leased Real Property is leased by the Company under valid and subsisting leases or subleases (as the same may have been amended or modified) that are in full force and effect and constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company and, to the Knowledge of the Company, the other parties thereto; (ii) the Company has not received written notice of any material breach or default, or cancellation or termination thereunder; (iii) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no conditions, events or circumstances which with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material breach or default under such lease or sublease; and (iv) the Company has not received any payment from a lessor as inducement for entry into such lease. None of the Leased Real Property is subleased to any other Person.

(c)There are no pending, or to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, condemnation or similar proceedings against the Company or otherwise relating to any of the Leased Real Property, and the Company has not received any written notice of the same.

(d)To the Knowledge of the Company, no assessments, water charges or sewer charges relating to the Leased Real Property are delinquent and to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no special assessments or charges pending or threatened in writing against the Leased Real Property, and the Company has not received any written notice of the same.

(e)The water, sewer, gas, electric, telephone and drainage facilities and all other utilities currently service the Leased Real Property in the capacities necessary to satisfy (i) to the Knowledge of the Company, existing requirements of Law and (ii) the current use and operation of the Leased Real Property.

(f)The Leased Real Property is in good operating condition and repair, subject only to ordinary wear and tear, for the purposes for which it is currently used.

24

(g)The Company has not received written notice of any pending or contemplated changes in the status of the zoning for the Leased Real Property. The Company is not a party to any agreement currently in effect with any county or township in which a tract is located, or any other entity, public or private, other than any Permitted Encumbrances, which would be binding and would prevent the use of the Leased Real Property for any of the uses allowed by the current zoning of the Leased Real Property.

(h)The Company has delivered or otherwise made available to Buyer true and complete copies of all leases for the Leased Real Property together with all amendments, modifications or supplements, if any, thereto.

Section 3.13 Tangible Personal Property.

(a)Section 3.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all material machinery and equipment, and all vehicles owned by the Company. The Company has good and marketable title to all of the assets set forth on Section 3.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances. None of the assets set forth on Section 3.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule is leased to any other Person.

(b)Section 3.13(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule includes a list of all leases of all material machinery and equipment of which the Company is a lessee. The Company has not received any payment from a lessor in connection with or as inducement for entering into any such lease. None of the assets set forth on Section 3.13(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule is subleased to any Person.

(c)To the Knowledge of the Company, all material tangible personal assets and properties used or leased for use by the Company in connection with the conduct of its business are in good operating condition and repair, subject only to ordinary wear and tear.

(d)All inventories owned by the Company consist only of items of a quality and quantity readily usable or readily salable, at prices equal to the values at which such items are reflected in the Company’s books, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and are valued so as to reflect the normal valuation policy of the Company, all in accordance with GAAP, applied on a basis consistent with prior years, but not in excess of the lower of cost or net realizable market value. Since the Balance Sheet Date, there have not been any write-downs of the value of, or establishment of any reserves against, any inventory, except for write-downs and reserves that were made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

Section 3.14 Intellectual Property.

(a)Section 3.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of (i) all Company Registered IP, (ii) all Company Owned IP which is not Registered Intellectual Property that is material to the conduct of the Company’s business as currently conducted, and (iii) all Company Licensed IP that is material to the conduct of the Company’s business as currently conducted. Section 3.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists the registration or application numbers, registration filing dates, countries in which

25

registered or filed and expiration or renewal dates for registrations listed thereon. With respect to registered trademarks, Section 3.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all goods and services in which such trademarks are registered or applied for. Each of the applications to register or obtain any copyrights, patents or trademarks required to be listed in Section 3.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule is pending and in good standing without final rejection or denial of any kind. Except as set forth on Section 3.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company exclusively owns, or possesses adequate and enforceable rights to use the Company Owned IP that is material to the conduct of the Company’s business as currently conducted and the Company Licensed IP that is material to the conduct of the Company’s business as currently conducted and has the right to utilize such rights without payment to any other Person, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not conflict, alter or impair any of such rights. Except as set forth on Section 3.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there is no Company Licensed IP that is material to the conduct of the Company’s business as currently conducted.

(b)Except as set forth on Section 3.14(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not granted any options, licenses, assignments or agreements of any kind relating to any of the Company Owned IP. Except as set forth on Section 3.14(b), the Company is not bound by or a party to any material options, licenses or agreements of any kind relating to the Intellectual Property rights of any other Person, except agreements relating to software. All Company Owned IP that is material to the conduct of the Company’s business as currently conducted is free and clear of the claims of any other Person and of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances. To the Knowledge of the Company, none of (i) the Company Owned IP, (ii) the Company Licensed IP, and (iii) the operation of the business of the Company as currently conducted and proposed to be conducted violate, conflict with, misappropriate or infringe the Intellectual Property rights of any other Person. No Actions are pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company by any other Person with respect to the ownership, validity, enforceability, effectiveness or use of any of the Company Owned IP or the Company Licensed IP, and the Company has not received any written communications alleging that the Company has violated any rights relating to Intellectual Property rights of any other Person.

(c)No former or current personnel has asserted any claim against the Company in connection with such personnel’s involvement in the conception and development of any Company Owned IP; and no such claim has been asserted or, to the Knowledge the Company, is threatened. To the Knowledge of the Company, no former or current employee of the Company has any patent issued, copyright registered, or application pending for any device, process, design or invention of any kind now used or needed by the Company in the operation of its business, which patents, registrations, or applications have not been assigned to the Company with such assignment duly recorded in the United States Patent Office.

(d)The Company has taken reasonable security measures to protect the secrecy, confidentiality and value of all Trade Secrets used in the Company’s business.

26

Section 3.15 Certain Contracts.

(a)Section 3.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a true, correct and complete list, and true, correct and complete copies have been made available to Buyer of, all of the following Contracts to which the Company is a party or to which its assets, property or business is bound or subject (other than purchase orders in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice):

(i)Contracts governing the borrowing of money or the guarantee or the repayment of Debt or granting of Encumbrances on any property or asset of the Company (including any such Contract under which the Company has incurred any Debt) in excess of $100,000;

(ii)Contracts providing for the employment of any Person other than offer letters confirming at-will employment;

(iii)joint venture Contracts, partnership agreements or limited liability company agreements;

(iv)Contracts (excluding Contracts for Leased Real Property) with annual expenditures after the date of this Agreement in excess of $100,000 which are not terminable by the Company upon thirty (30) days’ notice without payment of a fee or other penalty;

(v)Contracts between the Company, on the one hand, and any board member, Company Employee or Affiliate of the Company, on the other hand (other than employment arrangements, including stock option grant agreements, entered into in the ordinary course of business);

(vi)Contracts containing covenants limiting the freedom of the Company to compete with any Person in any line of business or in any geographic area or market;

(vii)Contracts for the use of or restricting the use of Intellectual Property, other than for COTS Software;

(viii)Contracts providing for the purchase, maintenance or acquisition, or the sale or furnishing, of materials, supplies, merchandise or equipment (including but not limited to computer hardware or software or other property or services, but excluding COTS Software) with annual expenditures after the date of this Agreement in excess of $100,000, except for purchase orders submitted in the ordinary course of business;

(ix)Contracts granting to any Person a first refusal, first offer or similar preferential right to purchase or acquire any right, asset or property of the Company;

(x)Contracts pertaining to the lease of equipment or other personal property with annual expenditures after the date of this Agreement in excess of $50,000;

27

(xi)Contracts providing for any offset, countertrade or barter arrangement with annual expenditures after the date of this Agreement in excess of $100,000;

(xii)Contracts involving any distributor, sales representative, broker or advertising arrangement which are not terminable by the Company upon thirty (30) days’ notice without payment of a fee or other penalty;

(xiii)Contracts involving management services, consulting services, support services or any other similar services, including service agreements under which the Company is required to provide services to insurers, self insured employees or any governmental or private health plan, managed care plan or other similar Person with annual expenditures after the date of this Agreement in excess of $100,000;

(xiv)Contracts involving the acquisition of any business enterprise whether via stock or asset purchase or otherwise in excess of $100,000; or

(xv)any other material Contract with annual expenditures after the date of this Agreement in excess of $100,000.

Contracts listed or required to be listed on Section 3.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule are referred to herein as the “Listed Contracts”.

(b)Each Listed Contract is in full force and effect in all material respects and represents a legally valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable in accordance with its terms. The Company has performed, in all material respects, all obligations required to be performed by it under each of the Listed Contracts to which it is a party. There are no (with or without the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both) material defaults or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened material defaults by the Company or, to the Knowledge of the Company, by any other party thereto, and the Company has not waived any of its rights under any Listed Contract.

Section 3.16 Employee Benefit Matters.

(a)Section 3.16(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a true, correct and complete list of each plan, program, policy, agreement or other arrangement providing for compensation, severance, deferred compensation, performance awards, stock or stock-based awards, fringe, retirement, death, disability or medical benefits or other employee benefits or remuneration of any kind, including each employment, severance, retention, change in control or consulting plan, program arrangement or agreement, in each case whether written or unwritten or otherwise, funded or unfunded, including any “employee benefit plan” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA, maintained, sponsored, contributed to or required to be contributed to by the Company and under which current or former employees and directors of the Company benefit (each, a “Company Benefit Plan” and, collectively, the “Company Benefit Plans”). The Company has made available to Buyer and its agents and representatives copies (or, if a plan is not written, a written description) of (i) each Company Benefit Plan and any amendments thereto, including schedules and financial statements attached thereto; (ii) the most recent annual report (Form 5500) filed with the IRS with respect to each such Company Benefit Plan, if applicable; (iii) each trust agreement and any other material written agreement relating to

28

each such Company Benefit Plan, if applicable; (iv) the most recent summary plan description for each such Company Benefit Plan for which a summary plan description is required, together with any summary of material modifications thereto; (v) the most recent determination or opinion letter issued by the IRS with respect to any such Company Benefit Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, if applicable; and (vi) for the preceding three (3) plan years, all actuarial valuation reports related to any Company Benefit Plan.

(b)(i) Each Company Benefit Plan has been established, administered and maintained in all material respects in accordance with its terms and in compliance in all material respects with applicable Law, including ERISA, the PPACA, the Code and federal securities Laws, (ii) the Company has timely made all material contributions and other material payments required by and due under the terms of each Company Benefit Plan and applicable Law, and all material benefits accrued under any unfunded Company Benefit Plan have been paid, accrued or otherwise adequately reserved to the extent required by, and in accordance with GAAP, (iii) there are no audits, inquiries or proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened by the IRS or any other Governmental Authority with respect to any Company Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits in the normal course), (iv) no “prohibited transaction,” within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code or Sections 406 and 407 of ERISA, and not otherwise exempt under Section 408 of ERISA, has occurred with respect to any Company Benefit Plan, (v) there are no actions, suits or claims pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened (other than routine claims for benefits) against any Company Benefit Plan or against the assets of any Company Benefit Plan, (vi) neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate is subject to any penalty or Tax with respect to any Company Benefit Plan under Section 502(i) of ERISA or Sections 4975 through 4980 of the Code and (vii) except to the extent limited by applicable Law, each Company Benefit Plan can be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued after the Closing Date in accordance with its terms, without material liability to the Company (other than ordinary administration expenses and in respect of accrued benefits thereunder). Any Company Benefit Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has obtained a favorable determination letter (or opinion letter, if applicable) as to its qualified status under the Code and, as of the date hereof, to the Knowledge of the Company, no such determination letter has been revoked nor has any such revocation been threatened in writing, and as of the date hereof, to the Knowledge of the Company, no circumstance exists that would reasonably be expected to result in the loss of such qualified status under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code.

(c)Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has since January 1, 2013 maintained, established, sponsored, participated in, or contributed to, any “employee pension benefit plan,” within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA subject to Part 3 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code.

(d)Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has contributed to or been obligated to contribute to any multiemployer plan (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA). Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has at any time since January 1, 2013 maintained, established, sponsored, participated in or contributed to any multiple employer plan or to any plan described in Section 413 of the Code.

29

(e)There is no Contract or Company Benefit Plan covering any employee of the Company that would result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of an “excess parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(1) of the Code as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. There is no Contract by which the Company is bound to compensate any employee of the Company for excise Taxes paid pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code.

Section 3.17Labor Matters.

(a)The Company is not a party to any labor agreement, collective bargaining agreement or recognition agreement with respect to its employees with any labor organization, group or association, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, have there been any attempts to organize the employees of the Company since January 1, 2013.

(b)Since January 1, 2013, there have been no labor strikes, labor disturbances, walkouts, lockouts or work stoppages pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, against the Company.

(c)To the Knowledge of the Company, no union organizational campaign is in progress with respect to Company Employees and no disputes or organizational efforts concerning representation exists with respect to such employees.

(d)To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no unfair labor practice charge, complaint or grievance against the Company pending or threatened in writing before the United States National Labor Relations Board or any other Governmental Authority.

(e)To the Knowledge of the Company, there are no pending or threatened charges or recommendations against the Company or any current or former employee of the Company or before the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or other Governmental Authority responsible for the prevention of unlawful employment practices.

(f)Since January 1, 2013, the Company has not incurred any material Liability or obligation under the Workers Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or any other similar state or local law that remains unsatisfied.

Section 3.18 Environmental Matters. The Company has made available to Buyer prior to the date of this Agreement, all material written environmental reports which are in the possession or control of the Company that relate to operations at any of the facilities or properties of the Company, all of which reports are listed on Section 3.18 of the Company Disclosure Schedule. Except as specifically set forth on Section 3.18 of the Company Disclosure Schedule:

(a)The Company is, and has been for the past five (5) years, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws and has obtained and is in compliance in all material respects with all Permits required under any Environmental Law for the operation of its business as presently conducted. Such Permits are valid and in full force and effect.

30

(b)The Company has not received any written claim, written notice, demand letter or request for information alleging that the Company may be in material violation of, or have any unpaid material Liability under, any Environmental Law, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no facts or conditions which would reasonably be expected to result in such Liability.

(c)The Company is not subject to any outstanding written Governmental Order, decree or injunction or other arrangement with any Governmental Authority, or to any written indemnity or other written agreement with any third party, pursuant to which the Company has any unpaid material Liability under any Environmental Law or with respect to Hazardous Material.

(d)None of the Leased Real Property is listed or, to the Knowledge of the Company, proposed for listing on the National Priorities List pursuant to CERCLA, or listed on the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation Liability Information System List (as defined in CERCLA) or any similar federal, state or foreign list of sites evidencing material levels of Hazardous Materials contamination of such Leased Real Property requiring investigation or remediation.

(e)No Encumbrance has been recorded against any of the Leased Real Property by any Governmental Authority pursuant to any Environmental Law.

(f)There have been no Releases of Hazardous Materials by the Company on, into or from the Leased Real Property or on, into or from any real property currently or formerly owned, leased or operated by the Company, and to the Knowledge of the Company, during any other Persons’ use, ownership or operation of the Leased Real Property, in an amount or manner that requires any reporting, investigation or remediation pursuant to any Environmental Laws or which could reasonably be expected to result in a material Liability of the Company under any Environmental Law. To the Knowledge of the Company, none of the Leased Real Property contains any damaged friable asbestos-containing materials or underground storage tanks.

(g)The Company has no unpaid material Liability under any Environmental Law arising out of any Hazardous Material contamination at any location to or at which any Hazardous Material has been transported or disposed of by, or on behalf of, the Company, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no facts or conditions which would reasonably be expected to result in such Liability.

(h)There are no civil, criminal or administrative actions, suits, hearings or proceedings, and no written notices of violation pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company under Environmental Laws.

Section 3.19 Related Party Transactions. To the Knowledge of the Company, as of the date of this Agreement, no Related Party (a) has any direct or indirect interest in any material asset used in or otherwise relating to the Company’s business, (b) has entered into any material Contract, transaction or business dealing involving the Company, (c) is competing with the Company or (d) has any claim or right against the Company (other than rights to receive

31

compensation for services performed, or indemnification, as a member, board member, officer or employee of the Company).

Section 3.20 Brokers. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon any arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company.

Section 3.21Suppliers, Customers and Distributors.

(a)Section 3.21(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists for each of the year ending December 31, 2014 and the period from January 1, 2015 through the Balance Sheet Date, the names of the respective suppliers that were, in the aggregate, the ten (10) largest suppliers in terms of dollar value of products or services, or both, to the Company (the “Major Suppliers”).

(b)Section 3.21(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists for each of the year ending December 31, 2014 and the period from January 1, 2015 through the Balance Sheet Date, the names of the respective customers that were, in the aggregate, the ten (10) largest customers of the Company’s products in terms of dollar value (the “Major Customers”).

(c)Since January 1, 2014, no Major Supplier or Major Customer has: (i) canceled, terminated or otherwise materially altered its relationship with the Company under any Contract between such supplier, customer or distributor and the Company, or (ii) notified in writing the Company of any intention to materially alter its relationship with the Company, or (iii) sought in writing to materially modify the pricing policies for goods or services provided by the Company under any Contract between such supplier, customer or distributor and the Company, effective prior to or as of the Closing Date except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

Section 3.22 Product Standards. To the Knowledge of the Company, since January 1, 2013, no product distributed or sold by the Company would have warranted legal action by any Governmental Authority so that a product recall should have occurred or did, in fact occur.

Section 3.23 No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this ARTICLE III (as modified by the Company Disclosure Schedule) and the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 9.3(a), neither the Company nor any other Person makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the Company or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and the Company disclaims any other representations or warranties, whether made by the Company or any of its Affiliates, board members, officers, employees, agents or representatives. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this ARTICLE III (as modified by the Company Disclosure Schedule) and the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 9.3(a), the Company hereby disclaims all liability and responsibility for any representation, warranty, statement, or information made, communicated, or furnished (orally or in writing) to Buyer or its Affiliates or representatives (including any opinion, information, projection, or advice that may have been or may be provided to Buyer by any board member, officer, employee, agent, consultant, or representative of the Company or any of its Affiliates). The Company makes no representations

32

or warranties to Buyer regarding any projection or forecast regarding future results or activities or the probable success or profitability of the Company.

ARTICLE IV.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS

Each Seller hereby severally, and not jointly, represents and warrants to Buyer as follows:

Section 4.1 Authority. Such Seller has the requisite individual or organizational power and authority, as applicable, to enter into this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including in the case of each Seller who is individual, being of the age of consent. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Seller, the performance by such Seller of its obligations hereunder, and the consummation by such Seller of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, have been duly authorized by such Seller, and no other individual or organizational action, as applicable, on the part of such Seller is necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Seller, the performance by such Seller of its obligations hereunder or the consummation by such Seller of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by such Seller and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties to this Agreement, this Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of such Seller, enforceable against such Seller in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be subject to (a) the effect of any applicable Law of general application relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights and relief of debtors generally and (b) the effect of rules of Law and general principles of equity, including rules of Law and general principles of equity governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at Law).

Section 4.2 Organization. Such Seller that is not an individual is a limited liability company, limited partnership, other business organization or trust duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (to the extent such concept is recognized) under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and has the requisite power and authority to own, operate or lease the properties and assets now owned, operated or leased by it, and to carry on its business in all material respects.

Section 4.3 Conflicts. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Seller, the performance by such Seller of its obligations hereunder, and the consummation by such Seller of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, does not and will not (a) in the case of a Seller that is not an individual, conflict with or result in a violation of the organizational documents of such Seller; (b) conflict with or result in a violation of any Governmental Order or Law applicable to such Seller or its assets or properties, except for such conflicts or violations which would not prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (c) result in a material breach of, or constitute a material

33

default (or event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would become a material default) under, or give rise to any rights of termination, amendment, modification, acceleration or cancellation of or loss of any benefit under, or result in the creation of any Encumbrance on any of the assets or properties of such Seller pursuant to, any Contract to which such Seller is a party, or by which any of the assets or properties of such Seller are bound or affected, except for such breaches or defaults which would not prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.4 Consents, Approvals, Etc. No consent, waiver, approval, authorization, order or permit of, or declaration, filing or registration with, or notification to, any Governmental Authority is required to be made or obtained by such Seller in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Seller, the performance by such Seller of its obligations hereunder, or the consummation by such Seller of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except: (a) applicable requirements, if any, under the Act, federal or state securities or “blue sky” Laws; (b) such filings as may be required under the HSR Act; and (c) where the failure to obtain such consent, waiver, approval, authorization, order or permit, or to make such declaration, filing, registrations or notification would not, when taken together with all other such failures by such Seller, have a material adverse effect on the ability of such Seller to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.5 Ownership. Such Seller has good and valid title to the Shares set forth next to its name on Schedule 2.1, free and clear of all Encumbrances and any other restrictions on transfer (other than Encumbrances set forth under the Company Organizational Documents, Encumbrances or restrictions that shall be released, waived or otherwise terminated in connection with the Closing and any restrictions under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and state securities laws). Such Seller is not a party to any option, warrant, right, contract, call, pledge, put or other agreement or commitment providing for the disposition or acquisition of such Seller’s Shares.

Section 4.6 No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this ARTICLE IV and the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 9.3(a), none of the Sellers nor any other Person makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to such Seller or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such Seller disclaims any other representations or warranties, whether made by another Seller or any of its Affiliates, officers, board members, employees, agents or representatives. Except for the representations and warranties contained in ARTICLE IV and the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 9.3(a), such Seller hereby disclaims all liability and responsibility for any representation, warranty, statement, or information made, communicated, or furnished (orally or in writing) to Buyer or its Affiliates or representatives (including any opinion, information, projection, or advice that may have been or may be provided to Buyer by any board member, officer, employee, agent, consultant, or representative of the Company or any of its Affiliates).

34

ARTICLE V.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER AND GUARANTOR

Buyer hereby represents and warrants to the Company as follows:

Section 5.1 Authority. Buyer and Guarantor have the requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to perform their obligations hereunder and to consummate the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Buyer and Guarantor, the performance by Buyer and Guarantor of their obligations hereunder, and the consummation by Buyer and Guarantor of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, have been duly authorized by the board of directors of Guarantor, and equivalent body of Buyer, and no other action on the part of Buyer or Guarantor is necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Buyer and Guarantor, the performance by Buyer and Guarantor of their obligations hereunder or the consummation by Buyer and Guarantor of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer and Guarantor and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties to this Agreement, this Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of Buyer and Guarantor, enforceable against Buyer and Guarantor in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be subject to (a) the effect of any applicable Law of general application relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights and relief of debtors generally and (b) the effect of rules of Law and general principles of equity, including rules of Law and general principles of equity governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at Law).

Section 5.2 Organization. Buyer and Guarantor are duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdictions in which they are organized, and have the requisite power and authority to own, operate or lease the properties and assets now owned, operated or leased by them, and to carry on their businesses in all material respects as currently conducted. Buyer and Guarantor are duly qualified to do business and are in good standing (to the extent such concept is recognized), under the Laws of each jurisdiction in which the character of their properties owned, operated or leased, or the nature of their activities, makes such qualification necessary, except in those jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing, when taken together with all other failures by Buyer or Guarantor, as applicable, to be so qualified or in good standing, would not have a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer and Guarantor to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.3 Conflicts. Assuming all consents, waivers, approvals, authorizations, orders, Permits, declarations, filings, registrations and notifications and other actions set forth in Section 5.4 have been obtained or made, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Buyer and Guarantor, the performance by Buyer and Guarantor of their obligations hereunder, and the consummation by Buyer and Guarantor of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, does not and will not (a) conflict with or result in a violation of

35

the organizational documents of Buyer or Guarantor; (b) conflict with or result in a violation of any Governmental Order or Law applicable to Buyer or Guarantor or their assets or properties; or (c) result in a material breach of, or constitute a material default (or event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would become a material default) under, or give rise to any rights of termination, amendment, modification, acceleration or cancellation of or loss of any material benefit under, or result in the creation of any Encumbrance on any of the assets or properties of Buyer or Guarantor pursuant to, any Contract to which Buyer or Guarantor is a party, or by which any of the assets or properties of Buyer or Guarantor is bound or affected, except, in the case of clauses (b) and (c) of this Section 5.3, as would not have a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer or Guarantor to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.4 Consents, Approvals, Etc. No consent, waiver, approval, authorization, order or Permit of, or declaration, filing or registration with, or notification to, any Governmental Authority or third party is required to be made or obtained by Buyer or Guarantor in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Buyer and Guarantor, the performance by Buyer and Guarantor of their obligations hereunder, or the consummation by Buyer and Guarantor of the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except (a) applicable requirements, if any, under the Act, federal or state securities or “blue sky” Laws; (b) such filings as may be required under the HSR Act; and (c) where the failure to obtain such consent, approval, authorization or action, or to make such filing or notification would not, when taken together with all other such failures by Buyer and Guarantor, have a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer or Guarantor to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.5 Litigation and Governmental Orders. There are no Actions pending against Buyer, Guarantor or any Subsidiaries of Buyer (“Buyer Subsidiaries”), or any of the assets or properties of Buyer, Guarantor or any Buyer Subsidiaries, or any of the board members, managers or officers of Buyer, Guarantor or any Buyer Subsidiaries in their capacity as board members, managers or officers of Buyer, Guarantor or any Buyer Subsidiaries that would have a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer or Guarantor to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Buyer, Guarantor and the Buyer Subsidiaries and their respective assets and properties are not subject to any material Governmental Order that would prevent Buyer or Guarantor from performing its obligations under this Agreement or consummating the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.6 Adequate Funds. Buyer and Guarantor will have currently available funds on hand as of the Closing sufficient to satisfy its obligations set forth in this Agreement, including payment in full of the Purchase Price and any amounts required to be paid by them or on their behalf pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 5.7 Due Diligence Investigation. Buyer and Guarantor have had an opportunity to discuss the business, management, operations and finances of the Company with their board members, managers, members, officers, employees, agents, representatives and affiliates, and have had an opportunity to inspect the facilities of the Company. Buyer and Guarantor have conducted their own independent investigation of the Company. In making the

36

decision to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer and Guarantor have relied solely upon the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in ARTICLE III and of the Sellers set forth in ARTICLE IV (and acknowledge that such representations and warranties are the only representations and warranties made by the Company and any Seller, as the case may be) and have not relied upon any other information provided by, for or on behalf of the Company or any Seller, or their respective agents or representatives, to Buyer or Guarantor in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Buyer and Guarantor have entered into the transactions contemplated by this Agreement with the understanding, acknowledgement and agreement that no representations or warranties, express or implied, are made with respect to any projection or forecast regarding future results or activities or the probable success or profitability of the Company.

Section 5.8 Brokers. Except for Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. (the fees and expenses of which shall be paid in full by Buyer), no broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon any arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer, Guarantor or any of their respective Affiliates.

Section 5.9 Investment Intent. Buyer is acquiring the Shares hereunder for its own account for investment, without a view to resale or distribution thereof in violation of federal or state securities Laws and with no present intention of distributing or reselling any part thereof. Buyer will not so distribute or resell any such Share in violation of any such Law.

Section 5.10 No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this ARTICLE V and the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 9.2(a), neither Buyer nor Guarantor nor any other Person makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to Buyer or Guarantor or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and Buyer and Guarantor disclaim any other representations or warranties, whether made by Buyer, Guarantor or any of their Affiliates, board members, officers, employees, agents or representatives. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this ARTICLE V and the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 9.2(a), Buyer and Guarantor hereby disclaim all liability and responsibility for any representation, warranty, statement, or information made, communicated, or furnished (orally or in writing) to the Company, the Sellers or their Affiliates or representatives (including any opinion, information, projection, or advice that may have been or may be provided to the Company or the Sellers by any board member, officer, employee, agent, consultant, or representative of Buyer, Guarantor or any of their Affiliates).

ARTICLE VI.
COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY AND THE SELLERS

Section 6.1 No Solicitation. During the period commencing with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and terminating upon the earlier to occur of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to and in accordance with Section 10.1 (the “Pre-Closing Period”), the Sellers and the Company shall not, and shall direct each of the board members,

37

officers, affiliates, shareholders and employees of the Company and any investment banker, attorney or other advisor or representative retained by the Company (all of the foregoing collectively being the “Company Representatives”) not to, directly or indirectly, (a) solicit, initiate, seek, encourage, facilitate, support or induce the making, submission or announcement of any inquiry, expression of interest, proposal or offer that constitutes, or would reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal, (b) enter into, participate in, maintain or continue any negotiations regarding, or deliver or make available to any Person any non-public information with respect to, or take any other action regarding, any inquiry, expression of interest, proposal or offer that constitutes, or would reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal, (c) agree to, accept, approve, endorse or recommend any Acquisition Proposal; or (d) enter into any letter of intent or any other Contract contemplating or otherwise relating to any Acquisition Proposal. The Sellers and the Company shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated any and all existing activities, discussions or negotiations with any Persons conducted prior to or on the date of this Agreement with respect to any Acquisition Proposal.

Section 6.2 Conduct of the Company Prior to the Closing.

(a)Conduct of the Company Generally. Unless Buyer otherwise consents in writing (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and except as otherwise contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, required by applicable Law or as set forth on Schedule 6.2(a) attached hereto, during the Pre-Closing Period, the Company (i) shall conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice, (ii) shall use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact its business and keep available the services of its current officers and its workforce and (iii) shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain its relationships with customers, suppliers, licensors, licensees and distributors; provided, however, neither Sellers nor the Company shall be in breach of this subsection (iii) to the extent that such relationships are harmed, disrupted or otherwise affected by the execution, delivery, public announcement or pendency of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated herein.

(b)Specific Limitations on the Conduct of the Company. Except as otherwise contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, required by applicable Law or as set forth on Schedule 6.2(b) attached hereto, during the Pre-Closing Period, the Company shall not do or cause to be done any of the following without the prior written consent of Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):

(i)issue, deliver, sell or grant (A) any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company, except upon the exercise of warrants, options, rights, agreements, convertible or exchangeable securities or other commitments outstanding on the date of this Agreement, (B) any warrants, options, rights, convertible or exchangeable securities (C) any “phantom” stock, “phantom” stock rights, stock appreciation rights or stock-based performance units or (D) other commitments obligating the Company to issue, sell, purchase, return or redeem any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company;

38

(ii)except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, create any Encumbrance on any assets or properties (whether tangible or intangible) of the Company, other than (A) Permitted Encumbrances; and (B) Encumbrances on assets or properties having an aggregate value not in excess of $100,000;

(iii)sell, assign, transfer, lease, license or otherwise dispose of, or agree to sell, assign, transfer, lease, license or otherwise dispose of, any of the assets of the Company, except for sales of inventory, components or supplies in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(iv)license, grant any rights to or transfer any of the Company Owned IP, other than non-exclusive grants of licenses in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(v)abandon, cancel, let lapse, fail to renew, fail to continue to prosecute, protect or defend or otherwise dispose of any of the Company Registered IP other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(vi)acquire (by merger, consolidation or combination, or acquisition of stock or assets) any Person or division, or business of or equity interest in any Person, except for purchases of inventory, components or supplies in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(vii)(A) grant to any Company Employee or director of the Company any increase in compensation, including, without limitation, bonus opportunity, except to the extent required under employment agreements in effect as of the date hereof or applicable Law, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and excluding any Closing Employee Payments, (B) grant to any Company Employee or director of the Company any increase in severance or termination pay, except to the extent required under any agreement in effect as of the date hereof or applicable Law, (C) enter into or amend any employment, consulting, indemnification, severance or termination agreement with any Person, (D) establish, adopt, enter into or amend in any material respect any collective bargaining agreement or Company Benefit Plan other than renewals and extensions of existing benefits in the ordinary course of business solely with respect to Company Benefit Plans, or (E) take any action to accelerate any rights or benefits, or make any determinations not in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, under any collective bargaining agreement or Company Benefit Plan;

(viii)except as set forth on Schedule 6.2(b) attached hereto, make, authorize or enter into commitments to make capital expenditures in an amount that, when added to all other capital expenditures made during the Pre-Closing Period on behalf of the Company and not identified on Schedule 6.2(b) attached hereto, would exceed $200,000;

(ix)adopt or materially change any method of financial or Tax accounting or financial or Tax accounting practice used by the Company, other than as required by GAAP or Tax Law, as applicable, or make or change any material Tax election;

39

(x)make, change or rescind any election in respect of Taxes, file any Income Tax Return (without prior opportunity for Buyer to review and approve which approval shall not be unreasonably witheld, conditioned or delayed) or any amendment to an Income Tax Return (without prior opportunity for Buyer to review and approve which approval shall not be unreasonably witheld, conditioned or delayed), enter into any “closing agreement” as described in Code Section 7121 (or any corresponding or similar provision of Income Tax Law), settle any claim or assessment in respect of any amount of Taxes, or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, in each case, to the extent any such action would increase Buyer’s or any Affiliate of Buyer’s liability for Taxes in Post-Closing Tax Periods;

(xi)amend the Company Organizational Documents;

(xii)declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution or capital return in respect of any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company, or redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company;

(xiii)(A) incur any Debt, issue or sell any debt securities or warrants or other rights to acquire any debt securities of the Company, guarantee any debt securities of another Person, enter into any “keep well” or other agreement to maintain any financial statement condition of another Person or enter into any arrangement having the economic effect of any of the foregoing, except for short-term borrowings incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or (B) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person;

(xiv)(A) cancel any material Debt (individually or in the aggregate) or waive any claims or rights or (B) waive any material benefits of, or agree to modify in any material manner, any confidentiality, standstill or similar agreement to which the Company is a party;

(xv)enter into any non-compete, exclusivity or similar agreement that would restrict or limit the operations of the Company, or, after the Closing, of Buyer and its Affiliates;

(xvi)settle or compromise any material litigation, or waive, release or assign any material claims;

(xvii)engage in (A) any forward selling or acceleration of customer orders or Contracts, (B) any deferral in paying payables, (C) any deferral in making capital expenditures that are necessary to maintain the fixed assets of the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (D) any delay in capital projects that are necessary to maintain the fixed assets of the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (E) any grant of any discount to customers or any other change in the terms of conditions of sale or purchase (including, without limitation, payment and delivery terms) or (F) any other changes not covered by (A) through (E)

40

above which are intended to materially increase the current income and cash collection of the Company prior to the Closing Date, except in each of (A) through (E) any actions in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(xviii)fail to maintain insurance coverage at commercially reasonable levels; or

(xix)enter into any agreement to take, or cause to be taken, any of the actions set forth in this Section 6.2(b).

Section 6.3 Access to Information. Subject to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, during the Pre-Closing Period, upon reasonable notice and during normal business hours, the Company shall, and shall cause each Company Representative to, (a) afford the officers, employees and authorized agents and representatives of Buyer reasonable access to the offices, properties, books and records of the Company and (b) furnish to the officers, employees and authorized agents and representatives of Buyer such additional financial and operating data and other information regarding the assets, properties and business of the Company as Buyer may from time to time reasonably request in order to assist Buyer in fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement and to facilitate the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that such access and requests do not unreasonably interfere with any of the operations or business activities of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be required to provide access to or disclose information where such access or disclosure would waive the attorney-client, work product or any similar legal privilege of the Company or contravene any Law or binding agreement entered into prior to the date of this Agreement; provided that the Company shall (i) notify Buyer that the information is reasonably likely to violate the Company’s obligations under any such Law or agreement or is reasonably likely to cause such privilege to be undermined and (ii) the Company shall cooperate with Buyer in seeking to find a way to allow disclosure of such information (including by entering into a joint-defense or similar agreement) including through the use of customer “clean-room” arrangements pursuant to which appropriately designated representatives of Buyer shall be provided access to such information. Any information furnished to or otherwise obtained by Buyer or its officers, employees and authorized agents and representatives pursuant to this Section 6.3 shall be subject to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement.

Section 6.4 Stock Options.

(a)Not later than thirty (30) days after the date hereof, and no less than two (2) Business Days before the Closing Date, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to enter into, and provide Buyer a true, correct and complete copy of, a Contract with each Optionholder in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Optionholder Pay-Off Agreements”).

(b)By not later than the Closing, the Company shall terminate all Stock Options pursuant to the Optionholder Pay-Off Agreements and/or the applicable Company Benefit Plan.

Section 6.5 Termination of Certain Agreements. Prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall take all actions necessary to terminate as of the Closing Date, and shall cause to be terminated as of the Closing Date, the Contracts listed on Schedule 9.3(g) attached hereto.

41

Section 6.6 Parachute Payments. The Company shall seek to obtain shareholder approval pursuant to Code Section 280G(b)(5) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder of any payment that would otherwise be an “excess parachute payment.”

Section 6.7 Update to Schedule. At least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall provide to Buyer an updated Schedule 1.1(c) (Company Transaction Expenses Tax Benefit), which shall take into account any amounts that are determined not to be deductible by the Company under Code Section 280G(a) due to any failure of the shareholders to approve such amounts in accordance with Code Section 280G(b)(5).

Section 6.8 Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance. At or prior to the Closing, the Company shall purchase (as a Company Transaction Expense) a prepaid directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy or policies (i.e., “tail coverage”) which policy or policies provide those persons who are currently covered by the Company’s directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy.

ARTICLE VII.
COVENANTS OF BUYER AND GUARANTOR

Section 7.1 Indemnification.

(a)Indemnification of Directors and Officers. For a period of six (6) years after the Closing, Buyer shall, and shall cause the Company to, (i) indemnify and hold harmless each present and former board member and officer of the Company (collectively, the “Company Indemnified Parties”), against any and all Losses incurred or suffered by any of the Company Indemnified Parties in connection with any Liabilities or any Action, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, arising out of or pertaining to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Closing, whether asserted or claimed prior to, at or after the Closing, to the fullest extent that the Company would have been permitted under applicable Law and under the Company Organizational Documents or any individual indemnity agreements, as the case may be, in each case as in effect on the date of this Agreement, to indemnify such Company Indemnified Parties and (ii) advance expenses as incurred by any Company Indemnified Party in connection with any matters for which such Company Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification from Buyer pursuant to this Section 7.1(a) to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law or, if greater, under the Company Organizational Documents or any individual indemnity agreements; provided, however, that the Company Indemnified Party to whom expenses are advanced provides an undertaking to repay such advances if it is ultimately and finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction and all rights of appeal have lapsed that such Company Indemnified Party is not entitled to indemnification under applicable Law, the Company Organizational Documents, and pursuant to this Section 7.1(a).

(b)Third-Party Beneficiaries. The terms and provisions of this Section 7.1 are intended to be in addition to the rights otherwise available to the Company Indemnified Parties by applicable Law, charter, bylaw or agreement, and shall operate for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, the Company Indemnified Parties and their respective heirs and representatives, each of whom is an intended third party beneficiary of this Section 7.1.

42

(c)Successors and Assigns. In the event Buyer or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers or conveys all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, to the extent necessary, Buyer shall cause such successors and assigns to assume the obligations set forth in this Section 7.1.

Section 7.2 Confidentiality. Each of Buyer and Guarantor hereby agrees to be bound by and comply with the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, which are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference and shall continue in full force and effect until the Closing, such that the information obtained by Buyer, or its respective officers, employees, agents or representatives, during any investigation conducted pursuant to Section 6.3, or in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or otherwise, shall be governed by the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement.

Section 7.3 R&W Insurance. Buyer agrees to not seek to make, enter into or consent to, any amendment to the R&W Insurance following the Closing without the Shareholders’ Representative’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, except for ordinary course amendments that do not adversely affect Sellers’ rights under this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII.
COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY, THE SELLERS AND BUYER

Section 8.1 Efforts; Consents; Regulatory and Other Authorizations.

(a)Each party to this Agreement shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action, and do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law or otherwise to promptly satisfy the conditions set forth in ARTICLE IX and to consummate and make effective the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) obtain all authorizations, consents, orders and approvals of, and give all notices to and make all filings with, all Governmental Authorities and other third parties that may be or become necessary for the performance of its obligations under this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) fulfill all conditions to such party’s obligations under this Agreement. Each party to this Agreement shall cooperate fully with the other parties to this Agreement in promptly seeking to obtain all such authorizations, consents, orders and approvals, giving such notices, and making such filings. Each party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to oppose any Governmental Order contemplated by this Section 8.1(a) or to have any Governmental Order contemplated by this Section 8.1(a) vacated or made inapplicable to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement (except as set forth in subsection (b) below), in connection with obtaining such consents from third parties, no party to this Agreement shall be required to make payments, commence litigation or agree to modifications of the terms and conditions of any agreements with third parties. The parties to this Agreement shall not take any action that is

43

reasonably likely to have the effect of unreasonably delaying, impairing or impeding the receipt of any required authorizations, consents, orders or approvals.

(b)In furtherance and not in limitation of the terms of Section 8.1(a), to the extent required by applicable Law, each of Buyer and the Company shall file, or cause to be filed, a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement within ten (10) Business Days of the date of this Agreement (including, in the case of Buyer, a request for early termination of the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act), shall supply promptly any additional information and documentary material that may be requested by any Governmental Authority (including the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice and the United States Federal Trade Commission) pursuant to the HSR Act, and shall cooperate in connection with any filing under applicable antitrust Laws and in connection with resolving any investigation or other inquiry concerning the transactions contemplated by this Agreement commenced by any Governmental Authority, including the United States Federal Trade Commission, the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice, or the office of any U.S. state attorney general. Each Party will, and will cause its Affiliates to, use their commercially reasonable efforts to cause the waiting periods under the HSR Act to terminate or expire at the earliest possible date after the date of such filings. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, Buyer and the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the necessary regulatory approvals as soon as practicable and will cooperate fully with the other parties hereto in promptly seeking all regulatory approvals necessary to close the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including but not limited to responding to or otherwise providing information in response to a Request for Additional Information and Documentary Material issued under the HSR Act; provided that Buyer will not be required to agree, and the Sellers and the Company will not agree without Buyer’s consent, to waive any rights to or accept any limitation on its operations that would reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on the business, assets, results of operations or financial condition of the Company, Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer or to dispose of any assets in connection with obtaining any such consent or authorization.

(c)Subject to applicable Laws (i) the parties shall keep one another promptly apprised of the status of any proceeding under the HSR Act or other Antitrust Law relating to the Agreement, including any discussion or decision by Buyer to pull and refile the HSR; (ii) each party shall promptly notify each other of all communications, inquiries or requests for additional information received from a Governmental Authority (including the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice and the United States Federal Trade Commission) relating to the Agreement; (iii) to the extent practicable each party shall give all other parties advance notice of, and a meaningful opportunity to review, to the extent lawfully permitted, all communications, filings, or other submissions to a Governmental Authority (including the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice and the United States Federal Trade Commission) under the HSR Act or any other applicable Antitrust Law; and (iv) no party to this Agreement shall agree to participate in any meeting or conference with any Governmental Authority (including the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice and the United States Federal Trade Commission) in respect of any filings, investigation or other inquiry unless it consults with the other parties in advance and, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Authority, gives the other parties the opportunity to attend and participate at such meeting or conference.

44

Section 8.2 Further Action. Subject to the terms and conditions provided in this Agreement, each of the parties to this Agreement shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to deliver, or cause to be delivered, such further certificates, instruments and other documents, and to take, or cause to be taken, such further actions, as may be necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE IX.
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 9.1 Conditions to Obligations of All Parties. The obligations of the Company, the Sellers and Buyer to consummate the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction, fulfillment or written waiver by each such Party, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a)No Governmental Order. No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Governmental Order which is in effect and has the effect of making illegal or otherwise restraining or prohibiting the consummation of the Purchase and Sale or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b)HSR Act. The waiting period under the HSR Act, if applicable, shall have expired or been terminated.

Section 9.2 Conditions to Obligations of the Sellers. The obligations of the Sellers to consummate the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction, fulfillment or written waiver by the Shareholders’ Representative, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a)Representations and Warranties; Covenants. (i) The representations and warranties of Buyer and Guarantor set forth in ARTICLE V shall be true and correct in all respects (giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “material adverse effect” set forth therein), in each case at and as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date (except that those representations and warranties that are made as of a specific date need only be so true and correct as of such date), in each case, except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct has not had, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; (ii) the covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement to be performed or complied with by Buyer at or prior to the Closing shall have been performed or complied with in all material respects; and (iii) the Sellers shall have received an officer’s certificate of Buyer, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying as to the matters set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) of this Section 9.2(a).

(b)Closing Date Payment. Buyer shall have delivered the Closing Date Payments in accordance with Section 2.3.

(c)Escrow Agreement. Buyer and the Escrow Agent shall have executed and delivered the Escrow Agreement.

45

Section 9.3 Conditions to Obligations of Buyer. The obligations of Buyer to consummate the Purchase and Sale and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction, fulfillment or written waiver by Buyer, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a)Representations and Warranties; Covenants. (i) The representations and warranties of the Company set forth in ARTICLE III and the Sellers set forth in ARTICLE IV shall be true and correct in all respects at and as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date (except that those representations and warranties that are made as of a specific date need only be so true and correct in all respects as of such date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) has not had, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect; (ii) the covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement to be performed or complied with by the Company and the Sellers at or prior to the Closing shall have been performed or complied with in all material respects; and (iii) Buyer shall have received an officer’s certificate of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying as to the matters set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) of this Section 9.3(a).

(b)Stock Certificates. Each Seller shall have delivered a stock power or assignment separate from the certificate for such Seller’s Shares, executed by such Seller.

(c)Resignations. The Company shall have delivered a resignation from each director and each officer of the Company set forth on Schedule 9.3(c) attached hereto.

(d)Escrow Agreement. The Shareholders’ Representative and the Escrow Agent shall have executed and delivered the Escrow Agreement.

(e)Payoff Letter. The Company shall provide to Buyer a duly executed payoff letter with respect to the Closing Debt set forth in Schedule 1.1(a).

(f)FIRPTA Certificates. Each Seller shall deliver to Buyer a certification of non-foreign status, dated as of the Closing Date and in form and substance required under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b)(2) so that Buyer is exempt from withholding any portion of the Purchase Price thereunder.

(g)Termination of Certain Agreements. The Company shall provide to Buyer a duly executed termination agreement for each of the Contracts listed on Schedule 9.3(g).

(h)Termination of all Options. The Company shall provide to Buyer evidence of the termination of all outstanding stock options in accordance with the applicable Company Benefit Plan.

(i)Consents. The Company shall provide to Buyer a duly executed written consent to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement from each of the counterparties to the Contracts set forth on Schedule 9.3(i).

46

(j)No Material Adverse Effect. There shall not have been or occurred any change or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with any other change or fact, has or which could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

(k)IRS Form W-9. Each Seller shall deliver to Buyer a duly executed IRS Form W‑9.

ARTICLE X.
TERMINATION

Section 10.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:

(a)by the mutual written consent of the Company, Buyer and the Sellers;

(b)by either Buyer or the Company by written notice to the other party if any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over such matters shall have issued a final, non-appealable Governmental Order permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the Purchase and Sale or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(c)by either Buyer or the Company by written notice to the other party if the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not have been consummated on or before the close of business on (i) the date that is ninety (90) days from the Effective Date or (ii) December 31, 2015, upon the request by either Buyer or the Company, provided that all conditions to Closing in ARTICLE IX of the party requesting the extension are satisfied other than (A) the condition set forth in Section 9.1(b) (HSR) and (B) those conditions that by their nature can only be satisfied at Closing (the “Outside Date”), unless the failure to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement on or prior to the Outside Date is the result of any material breach of this Agreement by the party seeking to terminate;

(d)by the Company, upon a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of Buyer set forth in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of Buyer shall have become untrue, in either case such that the conditions set forth in Section 9.2(a) would not be satisfied as of the time of such breach or as of the time such representation or warranty shall have become untrue, provided that prior to any termination of this Agreement under this Section 10.1(d), Buyer shall be entitled to cure any such breach capable of being cured during a thirty (30) day period following receipt of written notice from the Company to Buyer of such breach (it being understood that the Company may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.1(d) if the Sellers or the Company shall have materially breached this Agreement or if such breach by Buyer is cured during such thirty (30) day period so that such conditions would then be satisfied); or

(e)by Buyer, upon a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of the Company or the Sellers set forth in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of the Company or the Sellers shall have become untrue, in either case such that the conditions set forth in Section 9.3(a) would not be satisfied as of the time of such breach or as of

47

the time such representation or warranty shall have become untrue, provided that prior to any termination of this Agreement under this Section 10.1(e), the Company and the Sellers shall be entitled to cure any such breach capable of being cured during a thirty (30) day period following receipt of written notice from Buyer to the Company and the Sellers of such breach (it being understood that Buyer may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.1(e) if it shall have materially breached this Agreement or if such breach by the Company or the Sellers is cured during such thirty (30) day period so that such conditions would then be satisfied).

Section 10.2 Buyer Termination Fee. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to (a) Section 10.1(b) unless such Governmental Order in effect has been initiated by a third party pursuant to claims (i) wholly unrelated to antitrust or other anti-competitive issues and not as a result of Buyer’s breach of this Agreement or (ii) resulting from the Company’s breach of this Agreement, (b) Section 10.1(b) due to the failure of the satisfaction of the condition set forth in Section 9.1(b), (c) Section 10.1(c) due to the failure of the satisfaction of the condition set forth in Section 9.1(b), or (d) Section 10.1(d), the parties agree that the Company and the Sellers shall have suffered a loss and value to the Company of an incalculable nature and amount, unrecoverable in law, and Buyer shall pay to Sellers a fee of $11,000,000 (the “Buyer Termination Fee”), it being understood that in no event shall Buyer be required to pay the Buyer Termination Fee on more than one occasion. The Buyer Termination Fee shall be paid in immediately available funds by wire transfer to the Sellers no later than five (5) Business Days after such termination, with each Seller to receive an amount equal to such Seller’s Pro Rata Portion of the Buyer Termination Fee.

Section 10.3 Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement and abandonment of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement pursuant to and in accordance with Section 10.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and of no further force or effect whatsoever and there shall be no liability on the part of any party to this Agreement; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained in this Agreement shall relieve any party to this Agreement from any liability resulting from or arising out of any knowing, intentional and willful material breach of any agreement or covenant hereunder; and provided, further, that notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) the terms of Section 7.2, Section 10.2, this Section 10.3 and Article XIII shall remain in full force and effect and shall survive any termination of this Agreement, whether in accordance with Section 10.1 or otherwise and (b) nothing herein shall relieve Buyer from liability for any intentional breach of any provision of this Agreement which results in a termination by the Company pursuant to Section 10.1.

ARTICLE XI.
TAX MATTERS

Section 11.1 Tax Returns. Buyer shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, and timely file or cause to be timely filed, taking into account any applicable extensions, all Tax Returns of the Company required to be filed after the Closing Date and Buyer shall timely pay or cause to be timely paid to the applicable Governmental Authority all Taxes shown as due and owing on such Tax Returns. The Shareholders’ Representative, on behalf of the Sellers, shall pay to Buyer an amount equal to any such Taxes that are attributable to a Pre-Closing Tax Period (determined in the manner set forth in Section 11.2) within fifteen (15) days after receiving notice from Buyer

48

that such Taxes are due. Each such Tax Return shall, to the extent it relates to a Pre-Closing Tax Period, be prepared in a manner consistent with past custom and practice. Buyer shall provide a copy of each such Tax Return that relates in whole or in part to a Pre-Closing Tax Period, together with all supporting documentation and workpapers, to the Shareholders’ Representative for review and approval at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date (taking into account all applicable extensions) for filing such Tax Return, and Buyer shall incorporate such comments and make such revisions to such Tax Returns as are reasonably requested by the Shareholders’ Representative in writing at least fifteen (15) days prior to the due date (taking into account all applicable extensions) for filing such Tax Return. For the avoidance of doubt, all deductions arising from Company Transaction Expenses, the exercise of any Stock Option, the payment of the Special Employee Bonuses, or from any other bonus or other compensation paid to any employee or independent contractor of the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be allocable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period and shall not be allocable to any taxable period beginning after the Closing Date pursuant to the “next day” rule under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-76(b)(1)(ii)(B) or pursuant to the ratable allocation method under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-76(b)(2)(ii) or 1.1502-76(b)(2)(iii).

Section 11.2 Straddle Period Allocation. In the case of any Straddle Period, the portion of Taxes attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period of such Straddle Period shall be determined as follows: (a) the amount of any Taxes based on or measured by income, gains, or receipts, or any Taxes other than Property Taxes, attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period portion of such Straddle Period will be determined based on an interim closing of the books as of the close of business on the Closing Date; and (b) the amount of any real property, personal property, ad valorem or similar Taxes (“Property Taxes”) attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period portion of such Straddle Period will be the total amount of such Property Taxes for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, (i) the numerator of which is the number of days in the Straddle Period up to and including the Closing Date, and (ii) the denominator of which is the total number of days in such Straddle Period.

Section 11.3 Amended Tax Returns. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, Buyer shall not, and shall not cause or permit any of its Affiliates or the Company or any of the Company’s Affiliates to, (a) amend any Tax Return of the Company that covers a Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period or (b) make any Tax election with respect to the Company that has retroactive effect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period, in each case without the prior written consent of the Shareholders’ Representative, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

Section 11.4 Tax Refunds. The amount or economic benefit of any refund (whether in cash or as a credit against or offset of Tax) of Taxes of or with respect to the Company in respect of a Pre-Closing Tax Period or attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period portion of any Straddle Period shall be for the account of the Sellers. Any such refund received by Buyer, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates (including any interest received thereon) to the extent not taken into account as a Company Transaction Expense Tax Benefit as set forth on Schedule 1.1(c) shall be paid by Buyer to the Shareholders’ Representative on behalf of the Sellers within fifteen (15) days after any such refund is received, credited or applied as an offset, as the case may be.

49

Section 11.5 Audits. Buyer, at its expense, shall control all examinations, audits or other proceedings with respect to the Taxes of the Company by any Governmental Authority; provided that the Shareholders’ Representative (on behalf of and at the expense of the Sellers) shall be entitled to participate in the conduct of any such examination, audit or other proceeding and Buyer shall not settle or compromise any such examination, audit or other proceeding without the prior written consent of the Shareholders’ Representative, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed, to the extent that such audit, examination or other proceeding relates to a Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period. The fees and expenses of the Shareholders’ Representative with respect to such examinations, audits or other proceedings provided for in this Section 11.5 on behalf of the Sellers shall be paid from the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund.

Section 11.6 Cooperation; Tax Records. Buyer and the Sellers shall cooperate as and to the extent reasonably requested by the other party in connection with the filing of Tax Returns and any examination, audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes. Buyer and the Sellers agree, upon request, to use their best efforts to obtain any certificate or other document from any Governmental Authority or any other Person as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or eliminate any Tax that could be imposed (including, but not limited to, with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby). The Company shall retain all books and records with respect to Taxes attributable to any period (or portion thereof) on or prior to the Closing Date required to be retained by it under Section 6001 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder or any comparable or similar statute, law or regulation under federal, state, local or non-U.S. law until sixty (60) days after the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations. The Company shall provide any Seller with access to any such books and records reasonably required by such party for Tax purposes.

ARTICLE XII.
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 12.1 Indemnification by the Sellers. Subject to the limitations set forth in this ARTICLE XII, each Seller hereby covenants and agrees that to the fullest extent permitted by Law, such Seller will defend, indemnify and hold harmless Buyer and its officers, directors, managers, employees, agents and Affiliates and successors and assigns of the foregoing (collectively, the “Buyer Indemnified Parties”) for, from and against any and all Losses actually sustained by any of such Persons following the Closing resulting from:

(a)any breach of a representation or warranty made by the Company in ARTICLE III;

(b)any breach of a representation or warranty made by such Seller in ARTICLE IV;

(c)(i) any Loss attributable to any breach of any covenant, agreement, undertaking or obligation in ARTICLE XI; (ii) all Taxes of the Company for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods; (iii) all Taxes of any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the Company (or any predecessor of the Company) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date by reason of a liability under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or any comparable or

50

similar Law; and (iv) any and all Taxes of any Person imposed on the Company arising under the principles of transferee or successor liability or by Contract, relating to any event or transaction occurring before the Closing Date. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Loss in respect of Taxes shall be limited to Taxes attributable to Pre-Closing Tax Periods;

(d)any breach by the Company or such Seller of any agreement or covenant made by the Company or such Seller contained in this Agreement; and/or

(e)any claim by any Person for any brokerage or finder’s fee, commission or similar payment based upon any agreement or understanding alleged to have been made by such Person with the Company or the Sellers or representatives thereof in connection with this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 12.2 Indemnification by Buyer. Subject to the limitations set forth in this ARTICLE XII, Buyer hereby covenants and agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, it will defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Company and the Sellers, and their respective officers, directors, managers, employees, agents and Affiliates and successors and assigns of the foregoing (collectively, the “Seller Indemnified Parties”) for, from and against any and all Losses actually sustained by any of such Persons following the Closing resulting from:

(a)any breach of a representation or warranty made by Buyer or Guarantor in ARTICLE V;

(b)any breach by Buyer of any agreement or covenant made by Buyer contained in this Agreement;

(c)any claim by any Person for any brokerage or finder’s fee, commission or similar payment based upon any agreement or understanding alleged to have been made by such Person with Buyer or any Affiliate or representative thereof in connection with this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby; and/or

(d)(i) any Loss attributable to any breach of any covenant, agreement, undertaking or obligation in ARTICLE XI; (ii) all Taxes of the Company for all Post-Closing Tax Periods; (iii) all Taxes of any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the Company is a member after the Closing Date by reason of a liability under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or any comparable or similar Law; (iv) any and all Taxes of any Person imposed on the Company arising by Contract relating to any event or transaction occurring on or after the Closing Date; and (v) any transaction occurring on the Closing Date after the Closing outside the ordinary course of business.

Section 12.3 Notice and Opportunity to Defend.

(a)Notice of Asserted Liability. As soon as is reasonably practicable after a Buyer Indemnified Party or Seller Indemnified Party (as applicable under the circumstances, the Buyer Indemnified Party or Seller Indemnified Party, the “Indemnified Party”) becomes aware of any claim that it has under Section 12.1 or Section 12.2 that may result in a Loss (a “Liability Claim”), it will give written notice thereof (a “Claims Notice”) to either the Sellers through the Shareholders’ Representative or Buyer as may be applicable under the circumstances (as

51

applicable under the circumstances, the Sellers or Buyer, the “Indemnifying Party”). A Claims Notice will describe the Liability Claim in reasonable detail, and will indicate the amount (estimated, if necessary and to the extent feasible) of the Loss that has been or may be suffered by the Indemnified Party. No delay in or failure to give a Claims Notice by the Indemnified Party to the Indemnifying Party pursuant to this Section 12.3(a) will adversely affect any of the other rights or remedies that the Indemnified Party has under this Agreement, or alter or relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligation to indemnify the Indemnified Party to the extent that such delay or failure has not materially prejudiced the Indemnifying Party.

(b)Opportunity to Defend. The Indemnifying Party will have the right, exercisable by written notice to the Indemnified Party within thirty (30) days of receipt of a Claims Notice from the Indemnified Party of the commencement or assertion of any Liability Claim in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, to assume and conduct the defense of such Liability Claim in accordance with the limits set forth in this Agreement with counsel selected by the Indemnifying Party and reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party; provided, however, that (i) the Liability Claim solely seeks (and continues to seek) monetary damages and (ii) the Indemnifying Party expressly agrees in writing that as between the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Party will be solely obligated to satisfy and discharge the Liability Claim (as finally determined pursuant to the provisions of this Article XII) in accordance with the limits set forth in this Agreement (the conditions set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) are collectively referred to as the “Litigation Conditions”). If the Indemnifying Party does not assume the defense of a Liability Claim in accordance with this Section 12.3(b), the Indemnified Party may continue to defend the Liability Claim. If the Indemnifying Party has assumed the defense of a Liability Claim as provided in this Section 12.3(b), the Indemnifying Party will not be liable for any legal expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Party in connection with the defense thereof; provided, however, that if (i) any of the Litigation Conditions cease to be met, or (ii) the Indemnifying Party fails to take reasonable steps necessary to defend diligently such Liability Claim, the Indemnified Party may assume its own defense, and the Indemnifying Party will be liable for all reasonable costs or expenses paid or incurred in connection therewith. The Indemnifying Party or the Indemnified Party, as the case may be, will have the right to participate in (but not control), at its own expense, the defense of any Liability Claim which the other is defending as provided in this Agreement. The Indemnifying Party, if it will have assumed the defense of any Liability Claim as provided in this Agreement, will not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, consent to a settlement of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, any such Liability Claim that (i) does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or the plaintiff to the Indemnified Party a complete release from all liability in respect of such Liability Claim or (ii) grants any injunctive or equitable relief. The Indemnified Party will have the right to settle any Liability Claim, the defense of which has not been assumed by the Indemnifying Party, in its discretion exercised in good faith and upon advice of counsel, either before or after the initiation of litigation, at such time and upon such terms as the Indemnified Party deems fair and reasonable, provided that (x) at least ten (10) days prior to any such settlement, the Indemnifying Party has given its written consent to such settlement and (y) the Liability Claim to be settled solely seeks monetary damages.

52

Section 12.4 Survivability; Limitations.

(a)The representations and warranties of the Company and the Sellers contained in this Agreement will survive for a period ending eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date and the obligations of Sellers to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties hereunder shall expire on the date that is eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date except (i) the Fundamental Representations, the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.8 (Taxes), and Sellers’ obligations to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties under Section 12.1(c) (Pre-Closing Taxes) and Section 12.1(e) (Brokers), shall expire sixty (60) days after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, and (ii) a breach or violation of any representation and warranty of the Company or Sellers contained in this Agreement as a result of actual fraud or willful misconduct by the Company or the Sellers (“Fraud Claims”) shall not expire (each, an “Expiration Date”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Liability Claim pending on any applicable Expiration Date for which a Claims Notice has been given in accordance with Section 12.3 on or before such applicable Expiration Date may continue to be asserted and indemnified against until finally resolved. All covenants and agreements contained herein which by their terms are to be performed subsequent to the Closing Date shall survive the Closing in accordance with their terms. All other covenants and agreements contained herein shall not survive the Closing and shall thereupon terminate, and no Action for any breach thereof, or failure to perform any such covenant or agreement, or to recover damages or losses in respect thereof, shall survive, or be available after, the Closing.

(b)The Sellers will not have any liability for an individual claim or group of related claims with respect to any Losses unless and until the amount of Losses that otherwise would be payable pursuant to Section 12.1(a) or Section 12.1(b) with respect to such claim or group of related claims exceeds $10,000 (the “Mini Basket”) and then the Sellers will be liable only for the excess over the Mini-Basket, it being understood that any such individual claims or group of related claims for amounts less than the Mini-Basket shall be ignored in determining whether the Threshold Amount (as defined below) has been exceeded. The Sellers will not have any liability for Losses arising under Section 12.1(a), Section 12.1(b) or Section 12.1(c) unless and until the aggregate of all such Losses for which indemnification is sought under Section 12.1(a), Section 12.1(b) and Section 12.1(c) exceeds $1,375,000 (the “Threshold Amount”), after which Buyer will be entitled to be fully indemnified for all Losses under Section 12.1(a), Section 12.1(b) and Section 12.1(c) exceeding the Threshold Amount. Losses arising pursuant to (i) Section 12.1(a) with respect to a breach or violation of the Fundamental Representations, (ii) Section 12.1(e) (Brokers), or (iii) any Fraud Claims (collectively, “Excluded Claims”) will not be subject to the Mini Basket or the Threshold Amount.

(c)Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this ARTICLE XII, the Sellers will not have any liability for any Losses to the extent that Losses for which indemnification is sought exceeds the amount remaining in the Indemnity Escrow Fund and the Buyer Indemnified Parties’ sole and exclusive source of indemnification shall be the Indemnity Escrow Fund, in each case except with respect to Losses arising pursuant to (i) the Excluded Claims for which Sellers’ aggregate liability and obligation to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall be limited to the Purchase Price and (ii) (A) a breach or violation of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.8 (Taxes) or (B) Section 12.1(c) (Pre-Closing Taxes) (collectively, “Tax Losses”) for which Sellers’ aggregate liability and obligation

53

to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall be limited to an amount equal to $22,000,000 minus the amount remaining under the R&W Insurance for all claims thereunder (e.g. the insurance limit minus claims paid to Buyer).

(d)Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this ARTICLE XII, the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to seek indemnification directly from any Seller, and no Seller shall have any Liability to any Buyer Indemnified Party:

(i)unless and until (A) the Indemnity Escrow Fund has been depleted, and (B) such Buyer Indemnified Party has exhausted its, or its Affiliate’s, rights and remedies to recover under the R&W Insurance and for which Buyer shall have delivered to the Shareholders’ Representative copies of all notices submitted and received by or on behalf of such Buyer Indemnified Party regarding any such claim submitted under the R&W Insurance, including any final determinations regarding coverage for such claim, in each case to be delivered promptly upon submission or receipt of such notice, as the case may be; provided, however, that Buyer shall not be required to make claims for matters which are exclusions under the R&W Insurance, and (C) with respect to Tax Losses, the aggregate insurance limit under the R&W Insurance has been reached for all claims and the Buyer Indemnified Parties are not entitled to recover any amounts under such R&W Insurance;

(ii)in excess of such Seller’s Pro Rata Portion of the Losses subject to indemnification hereunder; or

(iii)for the indemnification obligations of any other Seller pursuant to Section 12.1(b).

(e)Each Indemnified Party will take and will cause their respective Affiliates to take all reasonable steps to mitigate and otherwise minimize any Loss to the maximum extent reasonably possible upon and after becoming aware of any event which would reasonably be expected to give rise to any Loss. The Indemnified Party will use its commercially reasonable efforts to recover under any available insurance policies.

(f)For the purposes of calculating Losses, any materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualifications in the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements will be disregarded.

Section 12.5 Exclusive Remedy. Except (a) as may be required to enforce covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement through specific performance or injunctive relief, or (b) Fraud Claims, the indemnification rights provided in this ARTICLE XII will be the sole and exclusive remedy available to the parties hereto for any and all Losses related to a breach of any of the terms, conditions, covenants, agreements, representations or warranties contained herein, or any right, claim or action arising from the transactions contemplated hereby (and each party hereby waives and releases, to the fullest extent that it may do so, any other right or remedy that may arise under any Law).

Section 12.6 Treatment of Indemnification Payments. All indemnification and similar payments made pursuant to this Agreement shall be treated for tax purposes as an adjustment to the Purchase Price, to the extent permissible under applicable Tax Law.

54

ARTICLE XIII.
GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 13.1 Shareholders’ Representative.

(a)By virtue of the execution of this Agreement by the Sellers, and without further action of any Seller, each Seller shall be deemed to have irrevocably constituted and appointed GSH (and by execution of this Agreement it hereby accepts such appointment) as agent and attorney-in-fact (“Shareholders’ Representative”) for and on behalf of the Sellers (in their capacity as shareholders of the Company), with full power of substitution, to act in the name, place and stead of each Seller with respect to Section 2.4 and the Escrow Agreement and the taking by the Shareholders’ Representative of any and all actions and the making of any decisions required or permitted to be taken by the Shareholders’ Representative under Section 2.4 and the Escrow Agreement (it being understood that the Sellers shall have no right to pursue any claim on behalf of any Company Indemnified Party in respect of the rights granted to Company Indemnified Parties under Section 7.1). The power of attorney granted in this Section 13.1(a) is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable, may be delegated by the Shareholders’ Representative and shall survive the sale, transfer, merger, reorganization, bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, death or incapacity of each Seller. Such agency may be changed by the holders of a majority in interest of the Escrow Fund from time to time (including in the event of the death, disability or other incapacity of a Shareholders’ Representative that is an individual), and any such successor shall succeed the Shareholders’ Representative as Shareholders’ Representative hereunder. No bond shall be required of the Shareholders’ Representative, and the Shareholders’ Representative shall receive no compensation for its services. At any time from the Closing Date until payment of any remaining amounts in the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund in accordance with Section 2.4(c)(i), the amount of documented costs and expenses (including all fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants) incurred by the Shareholders’ Representative in connection with the performance of its rights or obligations under this Agreement and the taking of any and all actions in connection therewith, shall be paid to the Shareholders’ Representative from the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund. In connection with the performance of its rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement and the taking of any and all actions in connection therewith, the Shareholders’ Representative shall not be required to expend any of the amounts held in the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund (though, for the avoidance of doubt, it may do so at any time and from time to time in its sole discretion) and in no event shall the Shareholders’ Representative be required to incur any costs or expenses or expend any amount in excess of amounts held in the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the Shareholders’ Representative may retain in the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, any amount that the Shareholders’ Representative deems in its reasonable discretion to be necessary to satisfy any documented costs and expenses (including all fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants) incurred or to be incurred by the Shareholders’ Representative in connection with the performance of its rights or obligations under this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement and the taking of any and all actions in connection therewith and (ii) to the extent that funds are no longer available in the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund, the Shareholders’ Representative shall have recourse against each

55

Seller directly for such costs and expenses (it being understood that and agreed that any such recourse shall be against each Seller, severally and not jointly, in accordance with the percentage of the aggregate Purchase Price received by or attributable to such Seller as of such date).

(b)The Shareholders’ Representative shall not be liable to any Person for any act of the Shareholders’ Representative arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or administration of its duties under this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement (it being understood that any act done or omitted pursuant to the advice of legal counsel shall be conclusive evidence of such good faith and reasonable judgment), except to the extent any liability, loss, damage, penalty, fine, cost or expense is actually incurred by such Person as a proximate result of the fraud or bad faith of the Shareholders’ Representative. The Shareholders’ Representative shall not be liable for, and shall be indemnified by the Sellers for, any liability, loss, damage, penalty, or fine incurred by the Shareholders’ Representative (and any cost or expense incurred by the Shareholders’ Representative in connection therewith) arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or administration of its duties under this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, except to the extent that any such liability, loss, damage, penalty, or fine, cost or expense is the proximate result of the fraud or bad faith of the Shareholders’ Representative. The Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund shall be available to indemnify and hold the Shareholders’ Representative harmless against any liability, loss, damage, penalty, fine, cost or expense incurred by the Shareholders’ Representative arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or administration of its duties under this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, except to the extent that any such liability, loss, damage, penalty, fine, cost or expense is the proximate result of the fraud or bad faith of the Shareholders’ Representative. The Shareholders’ Representative shall be entitled to recover any out-of-pocket costs and expenses reasonably incurred by the Shareholders’ Representative in connection with actions taken by the Shareholders’ Representative pursuant to the terms of Section 2.4 or the Escrow Agreement (including the hiring of legal counsel and the incurring of legal fees and costs) from the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Fund.

(c)From and after the Closing, Buyer shall cause the Company to provide the Shareholders’ Representative with reasonable access to information about the Company and the reasonable assistance of the officers and employees of Buyer and the Company for purposes of performing its duties and exercising its rights under this Agreement, provided that the Shareholders’ Representative shall treat confidentially any nonpublic information about the Company (except in connection with the performance by the Shareholders’ Representative of its duties or the exercise of its rights under this Agreement).

(d)From and after the Closing, a decision, act, consent or instruction of the Shareholders’ Representative shall constitute a decision of all the Sellers and shall be final, binding and conclusive upon each Seller, and the Escrow Agent and Buyer may rely upon any decision, act, consent or instruction of the Shareholders’ Representative as being the decision, act, consent or instruction of each Seller. Buyer is hereby relieved from any liability to any Person for any acts done by Buyer in accordance with any such decision, act, consent or instruction of the Shareholders’ Representative.

Section 13.2 Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, all costs and expenses (including all fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and

56

accountants) incurred in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement, the performance of the terms of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, shall be paid by the respective party incurring such costs and expenses, whether or not the Closing shall have occurred.

Section 13.3 Costs and Attorneys’ Fees. Subject to the limitations set forth herein, in the event that any action, suit or other proceeding is instituted by any party hereto against any other party hereto concerning or arising out of this Agreement, the prevailing party or parties shall recover all of such prevailing party’s or parties’ costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in connection with each and every such action, suit or other proceeding, including any and all appeals and petitions therefrom, from the non-prevailing party or parties.

Section 13.4 Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made as follows: (a) if sent by registered or certified mail in the United States return receipt requested, upon receipt; (b) if sent by nationally recognized overnight air courier, one (1) Business Day after mailing; (c) if sent by facsimile transmission or by electronic mail, when transmitted and receipt is confirmed; and (d) if otherwise actually personally delivered, when delivered, provided that such notices, requests, demands and other communications are delivered to the address set forth below, or to such other address as any party shall provide by like notice to the other parties to this Agreement:

(a)if to the Company (prior to the Closing), to:

AVB Inc., c/o Goode Seed Holdings, LLC
767 Third Avenue, 22nd Floor
New York, NY 10017
Facsimile: (212) 317-2827
Attn: Daniel Bonoff
Email: dbonoff@goodepartners.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP
1300 SW 5th Avenue, Suite 2400
Portland, Oregon 97201
Facsimile: (503) 778-5299
Attention: Jesse Lyon
Email: jesselyon@dwt.com

(b)if to the Sellers, to the address below each Seller’s name on Exhibit C attached hereto, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

57

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP
1300 SW 5th Avenue, Suite 2400
Portland, Oregon 97201
Facsimile: (503) 778-5299
Attention: Jesse Lyon
Email: jesselyon@dwt.com

(c)if to Buyer or Guarantor or, if after the Closing, to the Company, to:

Flowers Foods, Inc.
1919 Flowers Circle
Thomasville, Georgia 31757
Facsimile: (229) 225-5426
Attention: A. Ryals McMullian, Jr.
Email: ryals.mcmullian@flocorp.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Jones Day
1420 Peachtree Street, N.E. Suite 800
Atlanta, Georgia 30309-3053
Facsimile: (404) 581-8330
Attention: Sterling A. Spainhour, Jr.
Email: sspainhour@jonesday.com

(d)if to the Shareholders’ Representative, to:

Goode Seed Holdings, LLC
767 Third Avenue, 22nd Floor
New York, NY 10017
Facsimile: (212) 317-2827
Attn: Daniel Bonoff
Email: dbonoff@goodepartners.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP
1300 SW 5th Avenue, Suite 2400
Portland, Oregon 97201
Facsimile: (503) 778-5299
Attention: Jesse Lyon
Email: jesselyon@dwt.com

Section 13.5 Public Announcements. Unless otherwise required by applicable Law or applicable stock exchange rules and regulations, no party to this Agreement shall make any public announcements in respect of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or otherwise communicate with any news media regarding this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, without the prior written consent of the other

58

parties to this Agreement. If a public statement is required to be made pursuant to applicable Law or applicable stock exchange rules and regulations, the parties shall consult with each other, to the extent reasonably practicable, in advance as to the contents and timing thereof.

Section 13.6 Provision Respecting Legal Representation. Each of the parties to this Agreement hereby agrees, on its own behalf and on behalf of its board members, members, partners, officers, employees and Affiliates, that Davis Wright Tremaine LLP may serve as counsel to each and any holder of Shares and their respective Affiliates (individually and collectively, the “Holder Group”), on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and that, following consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, Davis Wright Tremaine LLP (or any successor) may serve as counsel to the Holder Group, the Shareholders’ Representative or any board member, member, partner, officer, employee or Affiliate of the Holder Group or the Shareholders’ Representative, in connection with any litigation, claim or obligation arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement notwithstanding such representation, and each of the parties hereto hereby consents thereto and waives any conflict of interest or duty of confidentiality arising therefrom, and each of such parties shall cause any Affiliate thereof to consent to waive any conflict of interest or duty of confidentiality arising from such representation.

Section 13.7 Interpretation. The Article and Section headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not be deemed to alter or affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. References to Articles, Sections, Schedules or Exhibits in this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated, are references to Articles, Sections, Schedules and Exhibits of or to this Agreement. The parties to this Agreement have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises with respect to any term or provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties to this Agreement, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party to this Agreement by virtue of the authorship of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement. Any reference to any federal, state, county, local or foreign statute or Law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise. For all purposes of and under this Agreement, (a) the word “including” shall be deemed to be immediately followed by the words “without limitation;” (b) words (including defined terms) in the singular shall be deemed to include the plural and vice versa; (c) words of one gender shall be deemed to include the other gender as the context requires; (d) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereto,” “herewith” and any other words of similar import shall, unless otherwise stated, be construed to refer to this Agreement as a whole (including all of the Schedules and Exhibits to this Agreement) and not to any particular term or provision of this Agreement, unless otherwise specified; and (e) unless otherwise defined in this Agreement, accounting terms shall have the respective meanings assigned to them in accordance with GAAP consistently applied with the Company Financial Statements. Any amount to be paid hereunder shall be paid in United States dollars and in immediately available funds.

Section 13.8 Severability. In the event that any one or more of the terms or provisions contained in this Agreement or in any other certificate, instrument or other document referred to

59

in this Agreement, shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement or any other such certificate, instrument or other document referred to in this Agreement, and the parties to this Agreement shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to substitute one or more valid, legal and enforceable terms or provisions into this Agreement which, insofar as practicable, implement the purposes and intent of this Agreement. Any term or provision of this Agreement held invalid or unenforceable only in part, degree or within certain jurisdictions shall remain in full force and effect to the extent not held invalid or unenforceable to the extent consistent with the intent of the parties as reflected by this Agreement. To the extent permitted by applicable Law, each party waives any term or provision of Law which renders any term or provision of this Agreement to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect.

Section 13.9 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the Company Disclosure Schedule, the other Schedules and the Exhibits to this Agreement) and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and the Confidentiality Agreement, and supersede all prior agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and the Confidentiality Agreement, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

Section 13.10 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties to this Agreement (whether by operation of law or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other parties to this Agreement, and any purported assignment or other transfer without such consent shall be void and unenforceable. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties to this Agreement and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 13.11 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except for Section 7.1, this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties to this Agreement and nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 13.12 Waivers and Amendments. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by the Shareholders’ Representative (on behalf of the Sellers), the Company and Buyer. Any failure of the parties to this Agreement to comply with any obligation, covenant, agreement or condition in this Agreement may be waived by the party entitled to the benefits thereof only by a written instrument signed by the party granting such waiver. No delay on the part of any party to this Agreement in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any waiver on the part of any party to this Agreement of any right, power or privilege hereunder operate as a waiver of any other right, power or privilege hereunder, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege hereunder. Unless otherwise provided, the rights and remedies provided for in this Agreement are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies which the parties to this Agreement may otherwise have at law or in equity. Whenever this

60

Agreement requires or permits consent by or on behalf of a party, such consent shall be given in writing in a manner consistent with the requirements for a waiver of compliance as set forth in this Section 13.12.

Section 13.13 Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed entirely within such State. Each of the parties to this Agreement hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its assets and properties, to the exclusive jurisdiction of the U.S. District Court for the District of Oregon, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the agreements delivered in connection with this Agreement, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment relating thereto, and each of the parties to this Agreement hereby irrevocably and unconditionally (a) agrees not to commence any such action or proceeding except in such courts; (b) agrees that any claim in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such Federal court; (c) waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such Federal court; and (d) waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in such Federal court. Each of the parties to this Agreement hereby agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Law. Each of the parties to this Agreement hereby irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 13.4. Nothing in this Agreement shall affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by applicable Law.

Section 13.14 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE, IT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY OF THE AGREEMENTS DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (a) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE EITHER OF SUCH WAIVERS, (b) IT UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF SUCH WAIVERS, (c) IT MAKES SUCH WAIVERS VOLUNTARILY AND (d) IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 13.14.

Section 13.15 Exclusivity of Representations and Warranties. It is the explicit intent and understanding of each of the parties to this Agreement that no party to this Agreement, nor any of their respective Affiliates, representatives or agents, is making any representation or warranty whatsoever, oral or written, express or implied, other than those set forth in this Agreement (as qualified by the Company Disclosure Schedule), and none of the parties to this

61

Agreement is relying on any statement, representation or warranty, oral or written, express or implied, made by another party to this Agreement or such other party’s Affiliates, representatives or agents, except for the representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement.

Section 13.16 Equitable Remedies. Each of the parties to this Agreement acknowledges and agrees that the other parties to this Agreement would be irreparably damaged in the event that any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their specific terms or otherwise are breached. Therefore, notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, each of the parties to this Agreement hereby agrees that the other parties to this Agreement shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement, and to enforce specifically the performance by such first party under this Agreement, and each party to this Agreement hereby agrees to waive the defense in any such suit that the other parties to this Agreement have an adequate remedy at law and to interpose no opposition, legal or otherwise, as to the propriety of injunction or specific performance as a remedy, and hereby agrees to waive any requirement to post any bond in connection with obtaining such relief. The equitable remedies described in this Section 13.16 shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies at law or in equity that the parties to this Agreement may elect to pursue.

Section 13.17 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic signature and by electronic mail or PDF), each of which when executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

Section 13.18 Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of this Agreement.

Section 13.19 Guaranty. In consideration of, and as an inducement to the Sellers entering into this Agreement, Guarantor hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Sellers the due and punctual payment and the full and complete performance and observance of all obligations of Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. Any breach of, or other failure to perform, any representation, warranty, covenant, obligation, agreement or undertaking of Buyer shall also be deemed to be a breach or failure to perform by the Guarantor, and the Sellers and the Company shall have the right, exercisable in their sole discretion, to pursue any and all available remedies they may have arising out of any such breach or nonperformance directly against either or both of Buyer and Guarantor in the first instance. This guarantee is a guarantee of performance and not exclusively of collection. The Guarantor acknowledges that it will receive substantial direct and indirect benefits from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

62

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first above written.

BUYER:
FLOWERS BAKERIES, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company
/s/ Ryals McMullian
Name: Ryals McMullian
Title: Assistant Secretary
Guarantor:
Flowers Foods, Inc., a Georgia corporation
/s/ Allen L. Shiver
Name: Allen L. Shiver
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Signature Page to Stock Purchase Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first above written.

SELLERS: |  | COMPANY:
Goode Seed Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company |  | AVB, Inc., an Oregon corporation
By: | /s/ Daniel R. Bonoff |  | By: | /s/ Daniel R. Bonoff
| Daniel R. Bonoff, President |  |  | Daniel R. Bonoff, Secretary
Goode Seed Co-Invest, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company |  | SHAREHOLDERS’ REPRESENTATIVE:
|  |  | Goode Seed Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
By: | /s/ Daniel R. Bonoff |  | By: | /s/ Daniel R. Bonoff
| Daniel R. Bonoff, President |  |  | Daniel R. Bonoff, President
Glenn Dahl, Trustee of the Glenn Dahl Family Trust, U/A/D November 28, 2012 |  |  |
By: | /s/ Glenn Dahl |  |  |
| Glenn Dahl, Trustee |  |  |
DAvid J. Dahl, Trustee of the DAVID Dahl Family Trust, U/A/D May 1, 2012 |  |  |
By: | /s/ David J. Dahl |  |  |
| David J. Dahl, Trustee |  |  |
SHobi L. Dahl, Trustee of the SHobi L. Dahl Family Trust, U/A/D December 16, 2011 |  |  |
By: | /s/ Shobi L. Dahl |  |  |
| Shobi L. Dahl, Trustee |  |  |

Signature Page to Stock Purchase Agreement